

1250 45<sup>th</sup> Street, Suite 200 Emeryville, CA 94608

510-834-2009 \* 866-968-6849 www.nuhw.org

# Collective Bargaining Agreement With

California Forensic Medical Group

November 4, 2023 – April 30, 2027

## WEINGARTEN RIGHTS/STATEMENT

#### **Additional Representation Rights:**

The following holding of the U.S. Supreme Court in NLRB v. Weingarten, Inc., shall apply to investigatory interviews conducted by the employer that an employee, upon his/her request, is entitled to have a Union representative present during an investigatory interview in which the employee is required to participate where the employee reasonably believes that such investigation will result in disciplinary action. The right to the presence of a Union representative (Union Organizer or Union Steward) is conditioned upon a requirement that the Union representative be available for participation in such investigatory interview within twenty-four hours, excluding Saturday, Sunday, and Holidays, of the employee's request for his or her presence.

#### **Weingarten Rules/Statement:**

"I request to have a Union representative present on my behalf during the meeting because I believe it may lead to disciplinary action being taken against me. If I am denied my right to have a Union representative present, I will refuse to answer accusatory questions and any I believe may lead to discipline."

**Rule 1:** The employee must make a clear request for Union representation before or during the interview. The employee cannot be punished for making this request.

**Rule 2:** After the employee makes the request, the employer must choose from among three options:

- 1. Grant the request and delay questioning until Union representation arrives and has a chance to consult privately with the employee;
- 2. Deny the request and end the interview immediately;
- 3. Give the employee a choice of having the interview without representation or ending the interview.

**Rule 3:** If the employer denies the request for Union representation and continues to ask questions, the employer commits an unfair labor practice and the employee has the right to refuse to answer. The employer may not discipline the employee for such refusal.

This page is for informational purposes only and is not part of the collective bargaining agreement.

### **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

AGREEMENT	
ARTICLE 1 – INTENT	1
ARTICLE 2 – RECOGNITION	1
ARTICLE 3 – UNION SECURITY AND COPE DEDUCTION	2
ARTICLE 4 – MANAGEMENT RIGHTS	4
ARTICLE 5 – NO STRIKE OR LOCKOUT	5
ARTICLE 6 – SUPERVISION AND MANAGEMENT	6
ARTICLE 7 – SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS	7
ARTICLE 8 – WAGES AND DIFFERENTIALS	7
ARTICLE 9 – DISCRIMINATION/HARASSMENT	12
ARTICLE 10 – UNION BUSINESS	12
ARTICLE 11 – EMPLOYMENT CATEGORIES	14
ARTICLE 12 – SENIORITY	16
ARTICLE 13 – HOURS OF WORK AND OVERTIME	22
ARTICLE 14 – PROBATIONARY PERIOD	27
ARTICLE 15 – PAYCHECKS	27
ARTICLE 16 – PERFORMANCE EVALUATION	28
ARTICLE 17 – DISCIPLINE AND DISCHARGE	29
ARTICLE 18 – ACCESS TO PERSONNEL RECORDS	31
ARTICLE 19 – GRIEVANCE / ARBITRATION PROCEDURE	31
ARTICLE 20 – PAID TIME OFF (PTO)	33
ARTICLE 21 – BEREAVEMENT LEAVE	
ARTICLE 22 – JURY/WITNESS DUTY	38
ARTICLE 23 – MILITARY LEAVE	38
ARTICLE 24 – FAMILY AND MEDICAL LEAVE AND DISABILITY LEAVE OF ABSENCE	39
ARTICLE 25 – PARENTAL LEAVE	40
ARTICLE 26 – INDUSTRIAL LEAVE	40
ARTICLE 27 – PERSONAL LEAVE	41
ARTICLE 28 – LEAVE FOR EMPLOYMENT WITH THE UNION	41
ARTICLE 29 – TRAVEL ALLOWANCES	42

ARTICLE 30 – ACCESS TO THE SITE	42
ARTICLE 31 – HEALTH, DENTAL & VISION BENEFITS	42
ARTICLE 32 – EMPLOYEE ASSISTANCE PROGRAM	45
ARTICLE 33 – RETIREMENT SAVINGS	45
ARTICLE 34 – EMPLOYEE HEALTH & SAFETY	46
ARTICLE 35 – EDUCATIONAL BENEFITS	47
ARTICLE 36 – MALPRACTICE INSURANCE	48
ARTICLE 37 – LIFE AND AD&D INSURANCE	48
ARTICLE 38 – WHISTLEBLOWER PROTECTION	49
ARTICLE 39 – SEPARABILITY	49
ARTICLE 40 – SCOPE OF AGREEMENT	49
ARTICLE 41 – IMPROVED PATIENT CARE	50
ARTICLE 42 – LABOR MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE	50
ARTICLE 43 - TERM OF AGREEMENT	51
APPENDIX A – PAY FOR BARGAINING COMMITTEE	52
APPENDIX B – INITIAL HIRING AND PROBATIONARY PERIOD LETTER OF AGREEMENT	53
SIDE LETTER – WEEKEND WORK BY MLPS	

#### **AGREEMENT**

This Agreement is made and entered into this 1st day of November 4, 2023, by and between CALIFORNIA FORENSIC MEDICAL GROUP, INC., hereinafter called "the Employer" or "CFMG," and NATIONAL UNION OF HEALTHCARE WORKERS, hereinafter called "the Union."

#### **ARTICLE 1 – INTENT**

It is the intent and purpose of the parties hereto to set forth herein the entire Agreement covering wages, hours and other terms and conditions of employment between the parties hereto, to promote and improve labor relations between the Employer, its employees and the Union and to provide a procedure for the prompt and peaceful settlement of grievances which may arise between the Employer and its employees or the Union to the end that there shall be no interruption or interference with service to the Employer.

#### **ARTICLE 2 – RECOGNITION**

#### 2.1 <u>DESCRIPTION OF THE UNIT</u>

The Employer recognizes the Union as the exclusive bargaining agent for all registered nurses, case workers, physician assistants, nurse practitioners, licensed clinical social workers, marriage/family/child counselors, occupational therapists, licensed psychiatric technicians, health educators, licensed vocational nurses, health information clerks, dental assistants, perinatal coordinators, lab technicians, medical assistants and clericals, employed by the Employer at the Glenn Dyer Detention Facility, 550 6th Street, Oakland, CA 94607 (hereafter "GDDF") and the Santa Rita Jail, 5325 Broder Blvd., Dublin, CA 94568 (hereinafter "SRJ") and at any other jail or other detention facility in Alameda County, California where the Employer is providing services under the same Sheriff's Office contract, excluding all other job titles, specifically, supervisors, managers, confidential employees under the National Labor Relations Act (NLRA), as amended.

#### 2.2 NEWLY ESTABLISHED CLASSIFICATION(S)

This Agreement shall apply to other classifications which may be established within the listed classifications. Any dispute as to the applicability of this Agreement to newly created positions will be resolved by the National Labor Relations Board (NLRB), provided the NLRB exercises jurisdiction over the parties' dispute.

#### 2.3 NOTICE TO THE UNION OF NEW JOB CLASSIFICATION(S)

In the event the Employer establishes a new job classification which the parties agree is within the bargaining unit, the Employer will advise the Union of the proposed wage rate for the position at least fourteen (14) days in advance of when it intends to fill the position and will bargain in good faith with the Union, upon request, over such wage rate.

#### 2.4 JOB DESCRIPTIONS

The Employer shall maintain job a.k.a. position descriptions, which include summaries setting forth job duties for all bargaining unit positions and regular assignments, if applicable. When job descriptions for bargaining unit positions are revised to reflect significant (material) changes in duties, the Employer will give the Union at least fourteen (14) days advance notice of the contemplated changes. If the changes in duties resulting in the Employer's revision of job descriptions require the employee's development of significantly higher skills, require additional education or training not provided by the Employer, the Employer will, upon request, bargain with the Union to agreement or impasse over such revisions, including the effects of such revisions. If such bargaining is not completed within fourteen (14) days after the Employer's originally proposed or announced effective date, the revisions may be implemented, whether or not further bargaining is necessary in order to reach an agreement or a good faith impasse.

#### 2.5 ORIENTATION

The Employer shall provide adequate and timely orientation before assigning employees to perform duties.

#### 2.6 REGISTRY WORKERS

The Employer reserves the right, in its sole discretion, to engage registry and other temporary/contingent workers to meet the needs of the inmate/patient population(s) served, provided engaging such persons does not displace bargaining unit employees. Said registry-dispatched workers shall not be included in the bargaining unit.

#### 2.7 INTERPERSONAL INTERACTIONS BETWEEN WORKERS

The Employer and the Union agree that all employees, physicians, supervisors, and managers should treat each other, regardless of title/position, with dignity, courtesy, respect and honesty.

#### ARTICLE 3 – UNION SECURITY AND COPE DEDUCTION

#### 3.1 UNION DUES/FEES

All employees, as a condition of employment shall, within thirty-one (31) days of hire, become members of the Union and pay the Union fees and dues as required by law, or agree to pay the Union an agency fee calculated in accordance with the requirements of law.

#### 3.2 AN EMPLOYEE'S FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH PROVISION

Subject to the Grievance and Arbitration Procedures identified in this Agreement, upon written notice to the Employer from the Union and upon examination of documentary proof that an employee has failed to comply with this provision, the Employer shall terminate the employment of such employee within thirty (30) days of such notice unless in the interim the employee complies with the above requirements.

The Employer shall not be required to discharge any employee if the Employer has reasonable grounds to believe that Union membership was not available to the employee on the same terms and conditions generally applicable to other members or if the Employer has reasonable grounds to believe that membership was denied or terminated for reasons other than failure of the employee to tender the periodic dues uniformly required.

#### 3.3 DEDUCTION AND REMITTING OF DUES/FEES/COPE AND AUTHORIZATION

On a biweekly basis, the Employer shall deduct the amount of Union dues or agency fees, specified by the Union, from the wages of all employees who have provided the Employer with a written assignment authorizing such deductions, provided the employee had sufficient earnings, after all other deductions, to pay the amount of dues specified. The written authorization shall be in a form acceptable to the Employer. By the 10th day following the bi-weekly payday for the pay period from which the dues were deducted, the Employer will remit to the Union the monies deducted pursuant to such assignments with a list of the names of the employees for whom deductions were made. Union dues, initiation fees, and COPE contributions (if applicable) deducted from employees' pay pursuant to this Section shall be remitted to the Union no later than ten (10) working days following the date of deduction.

#### 3.4 <u>EMPLOYEE INFORMATION</u>

- (a) In addition to the list of employee names, addresses, and phone numbers that the Employer periodically furnishes, in order to facilitate reconciling the dues payment and to properly credit members for the payment of dues, initiation fees, and COPE contributions, the Employer shall provide the Union an update of the following information quarterly (by e-mailing a spreadsheet in Excel):
  - A list of all members of the bargaining unit including full name, social security number, employee ID number, home address, home phone, email address, facility, job title, classification, shift, status (i.e., Full-time, Part-time, or PRN).
- (b) The Employer shall provide the Union an update of the following information monthly:

A list of new hires, transfers and terminations including the information in Subsection (a) above.

#### 3.5 MATERIALS PROVIDED TO EMPLOYEES BY EMPLOYER

The Employer shall issue to all new hires/transfers materials provided by the Union, including a payroll deduction authorization form and list of Union stewards, provided such materials have been supplied to the Employer in advance and in sufficient quantity.

#### 3.6 INDEMNIFICATION OF EMPLOYER

The Union shall indemnify, defend, and hold the Employer harmless against any lawsuit or claim of any kind, which may be made by any person and/or recovery of damages sustained by reason of any action taken under this Article.

#### 3.7 RELIGIOUS EXEMPTION

Notwithstanding the above, any employee who is a member of and adheres to established and traditional tenets or teachings of a bona fide religious body or sect, which has historically held conscientious objections to joining or financially supporting labor organizations, shall not be required to join or financially support this Union as a condition of employment. Such employee is, however, required to pay sums equal to the Union's periodic dues to one of the non-labor, non-religious charitable funds exempt from taxation under Section 501(c)(3) of Title 36 of the Internal Revenue Code, as will be designated, and submit proof of such payment to the Union or Employer upon request.

#### 3.8 COPE

The Employer will also honor employees' written assignment of wages to the Union's COPE fund. The written assignment shall be in a form acceptable to the Employer. By the 10<sup>th</sup> day following the payday from which the COPE contributions were deducted, the Employer will remit COPE monies to the Union. No employee may change the amount deducted or initiate COPE deductions more than once in a twelve-month period.

#### 3.9 EXISTING, LAWFUL PRACTICES

Except as otherwise provided in Article 3, nothing herein shall be interpreted to require commencement, modification or cessation of existing, lawful practices to which neither the Employer nor the Union have objected.

#### 3.10 MUTUAL COOPERATION IN ADMINISTRATION OF THIS ARTICLE

The Union and the Employer agree to cooperate with one another in an effort to make the information sharing process described in this Article as seamless and trouble free as is practical for both parties, with minimal administrative effort; until the relevant systems are in place furnishing a hard copy of the information shall be considered substantial compliance with this provision of the labor contract.

#### ARTICLE 4 – MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

- 4.1 The Employer recognizes that this Article is not intended to negate other specific provisions of the Agreement. The Employer acknowledges that where the management right is limited or altered by another provision of the Agreement, that provision governs insofar as it limits or alters a right retained by management. It is understood that Article 43, Term of Agreement, includes within its coverage Article 4, Management Rights, and that neither party is obligated to bargain with respect to any rights exercised under Article 4.
- 4.2 With this express acknowledgment of the limitation on the rights of management, the Union agrees that the management and operation of the enterprise and the direction of the workforce are vested exclusively with the Employer. All functions of management not specifically limited by the express language of the Agreement are retained by the Employer. The Employer retains all of the powers, rights, functions, responsibilities and authority to operate its business and direct its employees, which belonged to the Employer prior to the Union's certification. Among the rights retained by the Employer,

but not totally inclusive of those rights, are the sole right to hire, discipline, discharge, lay off and promote; to determine or change the starting or quitting time and the number of hours worked; to promulgate rules and regulations; to assign duties to the workforce; to assign or transfer temporarily or permanently employees to other duties as operations may require; to introduce new or improved methods, equipment or facilities; and in all respects to carry out the ordinary and customary functions of management whether or not exercised by the Employer prior to the execution of this Agreement. Matters of inherent managerial policy are reserved exclusively to the Employer and include, but shall not be limited to, such areas of discretion or policy as the functions and programs of the Company, standards of service, budget, utilization of technology, organizational structure and selection and direction of personnel. The Employer reserves the right to discontinue operations in whole or in part, to subcontract, to transfer, to sell or otherwise dispose of its business in whole or in part, to determine the number and types of employees required, and to otherwise take such measures as management may determine to be necessary to the orderly or economical operation of the business. The management rights set forth above are by way of example, but not by way of limitation.

- 4.3 The Union recognizes that the Employer may introduce a change in the method or methods of operation which may produce a change in job duties and reduction of personnel.
- 4.4 The Union, on behalf of the employees, recognizes that the primary obligation of the Employer is to ensure the safety, health and comfort of the inmates. Consequently, the Union agrees to cooperate with the Employer to attain and maintain full efficiency and maximum inmate care. The Union recognizes that inmate care is the primary concern of the Employer, and in emergency situations, inmate care may be placed ahead of the terms of this Agreement, without the Union permanently forfeiting any of its rights.
- 4.5 The Union, on behalf of its members, recognizes that the Employer has a contract with the County of Alameda and that the Employer may take action required of it by the County under the terms of the contract. Any action undertaken or as an "emergency" or pursuant to the County contract, may be subject to the grievance and arbitration procedure at the option of the Union.

#### ARTICLE 5 – NO STRIKE OR LOCKOUT

#### 5.1 NO LOCKOUT

The Employer agrees that there shall be no lockouts during the term of this Agreement.

#### 5.2 NO STRIKE, ETC.

Neither the Union nor any employee shall call, sanction, or engage in any strike, sympathy strike, work stoppage, slowdown, sit-down, sit-in, collective refusal to work, cessation or stoppage or interruption of work, boycott, refusal to cross a picket line, or prevent or attempt to prevent the access of any person to the Employer's facility for any reason whatsoever during the period of this Agreement.

## 5.3 NOTIFICATION TO EMPLOYEES OF VIOLATION OF THE PROVISIONS OF THIS ARTICLE

Should any of the events in the previous paragraph of this No Strike or Lockout provision occur, in addition to any other liability, remedy or right provided by applicable law or statute, the Union immediately upon request of the Employer shall notify the employees that such action violates the contract, advise all employees to cease such action and return to work immediately, and take all steps as may be necessary to bring about compliance with this Agreement. At the Employer's request the Union will advise the Employer in writing what steps it has taken pursuant to this paragraph.

#### 5.4 DISCIPLINE REGARDING VIOLATION OF THE PROVISIONS OF THIS ARTICLE

Any employee engaging in any activity prohibited by this No Strike or Lockout provision may be subject to disciplinary action up to and including discharge. The Employer will determine appropriate discipline, if any, based on individual circumstances and there will be no requirement that the Employer discipline or discharge all employees who engaged in the prohibited activity. Any employee disciplined or discharged shall have access to the grievance and arbitration procedure.

#### 5.5 INJUNCTIVE RELIEF

The right of the Employer to seek injunctive relief in court against any action in breach of this No Strike or Lockout provision without submission to the grievance and arbitration procedure is expressly recognized by the parties.

#### ARTICLE 6 – SUPERVISION AND MANAGEMENT

#### 6.1 WORK PERFORMED BY SUPERVISORS OR MANAGERS

Management and Supervisory employees shall be permitted to perform all functions and tasks performed by members of the bargaining unit; provided, however, that this shall not be utilized to regularly reduce employment or employment opportunities for the employees in the bargaining unit.

#### 6.2 EMPLOYER COMMUNICATIONS

When the Employer is giving notice to specific employee(s) under any provision of this Agreement, as opposed to notice to employees generally, that notice may be given in writing through hand delivery, by mail, email, text, MyWellpath or similar application or program or over the telephone, followed by written communication, based upon the employee's information currently on file. Employees are required to keep all such information up to date.

When the Employer is required to give notices to all employees generally (or all employees in a certain category, e.g., RNs or day shift) under any provision of this Agreement, the Employer will use any of the methods outlined above, and may also use the Employer bulletin board as a supplemental means of communication. Notice is deemed to have been given as of the date of publication/distribution. Bargaining unit employees have an obligation to review such notice.

The Employer will provide ten (10) calendar days' notice of regularly scheduled meetings and events, including but not limited to, staff meetings, ITR meetings, mandatory training (skills fair, CPR classes) and any other mandatory events.

#### ARTICLE 7 – SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS

If the Employer's assets or stock are sold to another corporation, proprietorship, partnership or individuals which are legally recognized as a successor, this Agreement shall be binding upon the Employer or its successor, if the successor corporation, proprietorship, partnership or individuals who purchase the assets or stock assent to be bound by this Agreement. If the successor corporation, proprietorship, partnership or individuals do not assent to be bound or in the event another employer becomes the successor to the Employer's contract with the County of Alameda, neither the Union nor its successor nor the new employer shall be bound by the terms of this Agreement.

#### ARTICLE 8 – WAGES AND DIFFERENTIALS

#### 8.1 WAGES AND DIFFERENTIALS AS SET FORTH IN THIS ARTICLE

Except as noted herein, no provision of the parties' new collective bargaining agreement shall be applied retroactively. The agreed upon increases in differentials set forth below shall be effective in the first full pay period following ratification.

#### 8.2 HIRING BONUSES

The Employer may grant hiring bonuses initially or place an employee at a higher rate where necessary to recruit for a particular facility, classification or shift.

#### 8.3 SHIFT DIFFERENTIALS

A shift differential shall be paid to any Physician's Assistant, Nurse Practitioner, Registered Nurse or Licensed Vocational Nurse, Health Information Clerk, or Medical Assistant as follows:

#### (a) For all hours worked between 3:00 p.m. and 11:00 p.m.:

CLASSIFICATION	DIFFERENTIAL
PA/NP/RN	\$4.00 per hour*
LVN	\$3.04 per hour*
ALL OTHERS	\$2.38 per hour*

<sup>\*</sup>Changes effective the start of the first full pay after November 4, 2023.

#### (b) For all hours worked between 11:00 pm and 7:00 a.m.:

CLASSIFICATION	DIFFERENTIAL
PA/NP/RN	\$4.57 per hour*
LVN	\$3.32 per hour*
ALL OTHERS	\$2.67 per hour*

<sup>\*</sup>Changes effective the start of the first full pay after November 4, 2023.

#### 8.4 CHARGE NURSE DIFFERENTIAL

Registered Nurses shall be given a differential of \$2.10 per hour when asked to perform as a Charge Nurse. It is understood that the Employer does not intend to use Charge Nurses in its staffing plan.

#### 8.5 <u>IN-LIEU OF BENEFITS DIFFERENTIAL FOR PER DIEM EMPLOYEES</u>

- (a) Per Diem RN Differential. Per Diem RNs who are not benefited shall receive a differential of \$4.20 per hour, for all hours worked, in lieu of benefits.
- (b) Per Diem LVN Differential. Per Diem LVNs who are not benefited shall receive a differential of \$3.20 per hour, for all hours worked, in lieu of benefits.
- (c) <u>Per Diem Differential for All Other Classifications</u>. All other Per Diem employees who are not benefited shall receive a differential of \$2.00 per hour, for all hours worked, in lieu of benefits.

#### 8.6 ORIENTATION NURSE

Registered Nurses and LVNs shall be given a differential of \$1.40 per hour when assigned Orientation Nurse responsibilities. The Employer will designate a Registered Nurse or LVN to be an orientation nurse when a new employee who is beginning work or an employee who is changing classifications requires orientation.

#### 8.7 NURSES NOT DESIGNATED AS ORIENTATION NURSES

Registered Nurses or LVNs not designated as an Orientation Nurse will not be required to orient employees, nor will they be eligible for the Orientation Nurse differential. Once an employee has completed orientation, all employees are expected to provide on-the-job assistance as requested.

#### 8.8 WEEKEND SHIFT DIFFERENTIAL

Employees shall be paid a differential of \$1.25 per hour for all hours worked between 11:00 p.m. on Friday and 7:00 a.m. on Monday. Increase the differential from \$1.25 to \$3.00 (with the change effective start of first full pay period after November 4, 2023). Effective the first full pay period after November 4, 2024, increase the differential to \$3.25. Effective the first full pay period after November 4, 2025, the start of the third year of the Agreement increase the differential to \$3.50.

#### 8.9 TURNING IN PREMIUM PAY PAPERWORK

Employees must turn in all required premium pay paperwork to the HR box no later than Saturday at midnight at the end of the payroll period. For premium pay events occurring within two (2) days of the end of the payroll period, the paperwork must be turned in as described above no later than Saturday at midnight at the end of the following payroll period in order to be paid in that payroll period. In the event that an employee is out sick on the day the paperwork is due, the employee may phone the information into Payroll. The employee will then turn in the hard copy of the paperwork upon his/her return.

#### 8.10 TRAINING INTERN DIFFERENTIAL FOR MEDICAL ASSISTANTS

Medical Assistants who are assigned to train interns (students) shall be given a differential of \$1.10 per hour.

#### 8.11 WAGE SCALES

The following are the wage scales for the term of the collective bargaining agreement. Across-the-board wage increases to the scale will be effective the first full pay period following the effective date of the increase.

May 1, 2023\* - 6.0% Across-the-Board Increase

Title	Start	1 Yr	3 Yrs	5 Yrs	7 Yrs	10 Yrs	15 Yrs	20 Yrs	25 Yrs	30 Yrs
Registered Nurse	\$58.35	\$62.15	\$70.86	\$73.75	\$75.60	\$77.43	\$80.54	\$82.95	\$84.61	\$86.29
LVN/LPT	\$38.27	\$40.75	\$46.47	\$48.36	\$49.57	\$50.77	\$52.80	\$54.40	\$55.49	\$56.59
Physician Assistant/Nurse Practitioner	\$85.20	\$86.85	\$88.53	\$90.24	\$92.00	\$93.79	\$95.61	\$97.47	\$99.38	\$101.30
Health Info Clerk	\$25.18	\$26.80	\$30.56	\$31.80	\$33.10	\$34.33	\$35.36	\$36.09	\$36.81	\$37.56
Medical Assistant/Lab Technician	\$28.39	\$30.24	\$34.50	\$35.90	\$37.30	\$38.75	\$39.93	\$40.74	\$41.54	\$42.38
Dental Assistant	\$29.79	\$31.73	\$36.18	\$37.67	\$39.16	\$40.66	\$42.29	\$43.15	\$44.02	\$44.90
Case Worker	\$28.96	\$30.84	\$35.15	\$36.59	\$38.06	\$39.52	\$40.30	\$41.11	\$41.93	\$42.77
Perinatal Coordinator	\$42.92	\$45.71	\$52.11	\$54.26	\$56.41	\$58.61	\$60.92	\$62.17	\$63.41	\$64.68
Family Planning Coordinator	\$25.18	\$26.80	\$30.56	\$31.80	\$33.10	\$34.33	\$35.05	\$35.73	\$36.45	\$37.18
Occupational Therapist	\$66.97	\$71.33	\$81.33	\$84.66	\$88.05	\$91.41	\$93.26	\$95.12	\$97.02	\$98.96
Dental Hygienist	\$61.09	\$63.28	\$65.47	\$67.63	\$69.81	\$72.00	\$74.19	\$76.37	\$78.56	\$80.13

May 1, 2024\* - 4.0% Across-the-Board Increase

Title	Start	1 Yr	3 Yrs	5 Yrs	7 Yrs	10 Yrs	15 Yrs	20 Yrs	<b>25 Yrs</b>	30 Yrs
Registered Nurse	\$60.69	\$64.63	\$73.70	\$76.70	\$78.62	\$80.53	\$83.76	\$86.26	\$87.99	\$89.75
LVN/LPT	\$39.80	\$42.38	\$48.33	\$50.29	\$51.55	\$52.80	\$54.91	\$56.58	\$57.71	\$58.86
Physician Asst./ Nurse Practitioner	\$88.61	\$90.32	\$92.07	\$93.85	\$95.68	\$97.54	\$99.44	\$101.37	\$103.35	\$105.36
Health Info Clerk	\$26.18	\$27.87	\$31.78	\$33.07	\$34.43	\$35.71	\$36.78	\$37.54	\$38.29	\$39.06
Medical Asst/ Lab Technician	\$29.52	\$31.45	\$35.88	\$37.34	\$38.79	\$40.30	\$41.53	\$42.37	\$43.20	\$44.07
Dental Assistant	\$30.98	\$32.99	\$37.62	\$39.18	\$40.72	\$42.29	\$43.99	\$44.88	\$45.78	\$46.70
Case Worker	\$30.12	\$32.07	\$36.56	\$38.05	\$39.59	\$41.10	\$41.91	\$42.75	\$43.61	\$44.48
Perinatal Coordinator	\$44.64	\$47.54	\$54.19	\$56.43	\$58.67	\$60.95	\$63.35	\$64.66	\$65.95	\$67.27
Family Planning Coordinator	\$26.18	\$27.87	\$31.78	\$33.07	\$34.43	\$35.71	\$36.46	\$37.16	\$37.91	\$38.67
Occupational Therapist	\$69.65	\$74.18	\$84.59	\$88.05	\$91.58	\$95.07	\$96.99	\$98.93	\$100.90	\$102.92
Dental Hygienist	\$63.53	\$65.81	\$68.08	\$70.33	\$72.60	\$74.88	\$77.16	\$79.43	\$81.70	\$83.33

May 1, 2025\* – 4.0% Across-the-Board Increase

Title	Start	1 Yr	3 Yrs	5 Yrs	7 Yrs	10 Yrs	15 Yrs	20 Yrs	<b>25 Yrs</b>	30 Yrs
Registered Nurse	\$63.11	\$67.22	\$76.64	\$79.77	\$81.77	\$83.75	\$87.11	\$89.71	\$91.51	\$93.34
LVN/LPT	\$41.39	\$44.07	\$50.26	\$52.30	\$53.61	\$54.92	\$57.11	\$58.84	\$60.02	\$61.21
Physician Asst./ Nurse Practitioner	\$92.16	\$93.93	\$95.76	\$97.60	\$99.50	\$101.44	\$103.41	\$105.42	\$107.48	\$109.57
Health Info Clerk	\$27.23	\$28.98	\$33.05	\$34.39	\$35.81	\$37.14	\$38.25	\$39.04	\$39.82	\$40.62
Medical Asst/ Lab Technician	\$30.70	\$32.71	\$37.32	\$38.83	\$40.35	\$41.92	\$43.19	\$44.06	\$44.93	\$45.84
Dental Assistant	\$32.22	\$34.31	\$39.13	\$40.75	\$42.35	\$43.98	\$45.75	\$46.67	\$47.61	\$48.57
Case Worker	\$31.32	\$33.35	\$38.02	\$39.58	\$41.17	\$42.74	\$43.59	\$44.46	\$45.36	\$46.26
Perinatal Coordinator	\$46.42	\$49.44	\$56.36	\$58.69	\$61.02	\$63.39	\$65.89	\$67.24	\$68.58	\$69.96
Family Planning Coordinator	\$27.23	\$28.98	\$33.05	\$34.39	\$35.81	\$37.14	\$37.91	\$38.65	\$39.43	\$40.22
Occupational Therapist	\$72.44	\$77.15	\$87.97	\$91.57	\$95.24	\$98.87	\$100.87	\$102.89	\$104.94	\$107.04
Dental Hygienist	\$66.07	\$68.45	\$70.81	\$73.15	\$75.51	\$77.87	\$80.24	\$82.61	\$84.97	\$86.66

May 1, 2026\* – 5.0% Across-the-Board Increase

Title	Start	1 Yr	3 Yrs	5 Yrs	7 Yrs	10 Yrs	15 Yrs	20 Yrs	25 Yrs	30 Yrs
Registered Nurse	\$66.27	\$70.58	\$80.48	\$83.76	\$85.86	\$87.94	\$91.47	\$94.20	\$96.09	\$98.00
LVN/LPT	\$43.46	\$46.27	\$52.78	\$54.92	\$56.29	\$57.66	\$59.96	\$61.78	\$63.02	\$64.27
Physician Asst/ Nurse Practitioner	\$96.76	\$98.63	\$100.54	\$102.48	\$104.48	\$106.51	\$108.58	\$110.69	\$112.86	\$115.05
Health Info Clerk	\$28.59	\$30.43	\$34.71	\$36.11	\$37.60	\$38.99	\$40.16	\$40.99	\$41.81	\$42.65
Medical Asst/Lab Technician	\$32.24	\$34.35	\$39.18	\$40.77	\$42.36	\$44.01	\$45.35	\$46.26	\$47.18	\$48.13
Dental Assistant	\$33.83	\$36.03	\$41.09	\$42.78	\$44.47	\$46.18	\$48.03	\$49.01	\$49.99	\$50.99
Case Worker	\$32.89	\$35.02	\$39.92	\$41.56	\$43.23	\$44.88	\$45.77	\$46.68	\$47.62	\$48.57
Perinatal Coordinator	\$48.74	\$51.91	\$59.18	\$61.62	\$64.07	\$66.56	\$69.18	\$70.60	\$72.01	\$73.46
Family Planning Coordinator	\$28.59	\$30.43	\$34.71	\$36.11	\$37.60	\$38.99	\$39.81	\$40.58	\$41.40	\$42.23
Occupational Therapist	\$76.06	\$81.01	\$92.37	\$96.15	\$100.00	\$103.82	\$105.91	\$108.03	\$110.19	\$112.39
Dental Hygienist	\$69.38	\$71.87	\$74.35	\$76.80	\$79.28	\$81.76	\$84.26	\$86.74	\$89.22	\$91.00

<sup>\*</sup>Effective start of first full pay period after May 1 of each year.

#### 8.12 <u>CCHP BONUS</u>

An employee who is or who becomes a *Certified Correctional Health Professional* ("CCHP") will receive an annual bonus of \$500 for full time employees or \$250 for part time employees, paid the first full pay period following submitting their certification to management.

#### 8.13 MEDICAL ASSISTANTS AND PHLEBOTOMY CERTIFICATION

All incumbent Medical Assistants who currently have an active phlebotomy certification will receive a one-time bonus of \$300.00 and will be required to maintain that active certification as a condition of employment. Going forward, the Medical Assistant job description at this site will be revised to add the requirement of an active phlebotomy certification (but the new requirement will not apply to any incumbent Medical Assistant that does not currently have the certification).

#### 8.14 WAGE RATE UPON PROMOTION

An employee who is promoted to a higher paid job in the bargaining unit, in recognition of his/her past service, shall be placed on the scale of the new position based on the following: For every two (2) full years of completed, continuous service in the

"old" position at the time of the promotion, the employee will be given credit for one (1) year of service in the new classification up to a maximum of five (5) years of service.

#### ARTICLE 9 – DISCRIMINATION/HARASSMENT

#### 9.1 DISCRIMINATION

The Employer's policy on Harassment, Discrimination, and Retaliation in effect at the time of ratification shall be treated as part of the Agreement; provided, however, that if the Employer wishes to make changes to the policy during the life of the Agreement the parties agree to bargain those changes as applied to the bargaining unit. The policy shall be available to employees upon request.

#### 9.2 NO DISCRIMINATION ON ACCOUNT OF UNION ACTIVITY

Neither the Employer nor the Union shall interfere with, intimidate, restrain, coerce, or discriminate against employees because of the exercise of rights to engage in or refrain from engaging in Union activity.

#### ARTICLE 10 – UNION BUSINESS

#### 10.1 UNION ACCESS

A representative of the Union, after informing the Employer of his or her intention to visit the facility and after having determined a mutually agreed upon time, shall have reasonable access to the Employer's premises for the purposes of conferring with the Employer, Union stewards, or bargaining unit members regarding the administration of this Agreement, for the purpose of ascertaining whether or not the Employer is in compliance with this Agreement, or to process/investigate grievances, or to observe the conditions of work, or to distribute Union literature on a reasonable basis, providing there is no interference with the work of any employee and no interruption in inmate care.

Operational considerations permitting, this shall not prevent a Union representative from conferring with an employee and his or her supervisor or a steward on Employer time in connection with a complaint or problem concerning the employee. The Union will try to inform the Employer at least a full day in advance, if possible, of the intent to visit the site. In any event the representative of the Union shall, upon arrival at the Employer's premises, clear through the regular channels for receiving visitors and may be escorted by a representative of the Employer when visiting the premises. The Employer will not unreasonably restrict the movement of Union representatives within the administrative/clinic area or monitor their interaction with employees.

#### 10.2 UNION STEWARDS

There will be a maximum of twelve (12) stewards for the bargaining unit. The Union will make its best efforts to maintain a proportional balance of stewards at each facility and on each shift.

Only one (1) Union steward will be the designated representative of the Union regarding any one (1) grievance or work-related issue. In the event that a change of a steward assigned to a particular matter becomes necessary for any reason, the Union will provide immediate notice of the change to the Employer, including the name of the steward's replacement.

#### 10.3 NO SUPER SENIORITY

Union stewards shall have no super-seniority with regard to layoff and recall from layoff, or any other preference with regard to terms or conditions of employment.

#### 10.4 TIME SPENT INVESTIGATING OR ADJUSTING GRIEVANCES

The Union steward may act as the representative of the Union in the investigation and adjustment of grievances. The designated steward shall be given a reasonable opportunity to investigate grievances and otherwise carry out Union business provided that the designated steward makes arrangements by mutual agreement with his/her supervisor and the supervisor of the employee(s) with whom the steward intends to confer. The Union agrees and acknowledges that the steward's primary responsibility is to carry out his/her normal duties and that working time spent on Union business will be kept to an absolute minimum. Thus, this steward's privilege must not be abused.

#### 10.5 BULLETIN BOARDS

The Employer shall provide reasonable bulletin board space, which shall be the sole means of posting all Union notices.

#### 10.6 UNION ACTIVITIES

Employees are prohibited from soliciting other employees or distributing literature to other employees for any cause during their assigned working time. For this purpose, working time means time during which either the soliciting or distributing employees or the employees who are the object of the solicitation or distribution are expected to be actively engaged in their assigned work. Notwithstanding the foregoing, solicitations or distributions may be conducted by employees during their lunch period, coffee breaks or other authorized non-work periods, in non-patient care areas.

#### 10.7 TIME OFF FOR EFFECTS BARGAINING

The Employer will make good faith efforts, in cooperation with the Union and individuals involved, to schedule employee representatives off work as reasonably necessary to conduct effects bargaining as may be required under the terms of this Agreement.

#### 10.8 NEW EMPLOYEE ORIENTATION

The Union representative or designated Union steward shall be given one half (1/2) hour to provide a new member orientation during the Employer's normal orientation program for new hires or at a mutually agreed time, as arranged between the Union steward and the new employees, up to thirty (30) minutes on paid time and shall not interfere with the employees' work. The Union shall supply the Employer with a complete set of the

Union's orientation materials at least annually and whenever there is a change in the materials.

#### 10.9 NAMES OF STEWARDS SUPPLIED TO THE EMPLOYER

The Union shall supply the Employer with a complete and accurate list of Union stewards including their full names and worksite(s). The Union shall supply a complete updated list in the event of any change in the identity of a Union steward. The Employer shall have no obligation to recognize anyone not on the official list.

#### 10.10 UNION EDUCATIONAL PROGRAM

Operational considerations permitting, the Employer shall provide up to three (3) days of leave without pay for Union stewards to participate in Union educational programs for up to four (4) employees at any given time, with at least forty-five (45) days' notice and will be approved on a first-come, first-served basis, provided further that the leave does not conflict with a holiday or employees' scheduled vacations. In the event that an employee did not know more than forty five (45) days ahead of time that the employee would be participating in such program, such as there was a cancellation by someone else and the Union invited the employee to attend with less notice, the employee shall provide as much notice as possible, and the Employer will approve the request if the employee obtains one (1) or more qualified employees to take the employee's scheduled shifts or if operational considerations otherwise allow for approval. (The Employer reserves the right in such situations to request documentation of the employee's late invitation to attend the program.)

#### **ARTICLE 11 – EMPLOYMENT CATEGORIES**

#### 11.1 FULL-TIME 40-HOUR EMPLOYEE

An employee regularly scheduled to work forty (40) hours per week is considered a full-time 40-hour employee.

#### 11.2 FULL-TIME 32-HOUR EMPLOYEE

An employee regularly scheduled to work thirty-two (32) hours per week is considered a full-time 32-hour employee.

#### 11.3 PART-TIME EMPLOYEE

An employee regularly scheduled to work between twenty-four (24) and thirty-one (31) hours per week is considered a part-time employee.

#### 11.4 PRN

A pro re nata ("PRN") employee is hired to work as an intermittent, "as needed" or relief employee.

#### 11.5 TEMPORARY EMPLOYEE

An employee who is hired for a specific period of time, not to exceed three (3) months or to cover the length of a leave of absence, whichever is greater. In the event that the Employer changes a temporary position to a full-time or a part-time position, it shall be posted in accordance with Subsection 12.5(a), Posting of Vacancies. If a temporary employee obtains the newly created full-time or a part-time position through the bidding process, the employee's seniority will be computed from the initial date of temporary employment.

#### 11.6 EMPLOYEE STATUS

At the time of hire, and thereafter at any change in status, employees will be given a written notice of their status (e.g., PRN, .6, .8, 1.0, etc.) receipt of which the employee will acknowledge by counter-signing the document. Employees disputing the status shown in the notice shall immediately notify the Employer. An employee's status shall be the status shown in such notice unless and until the employee and Employer, or if the employee appeals to the Union, the Employer, employee and the Union, agree upon a change in the status.

#### 11.7 PRO-RATED BENEFITS FOR FULL-TIME 32-HOUR AND PART-TIME EMPLOYEES

Full-time 32-hour and part-time employees scheduled to work 24-hours or more per week shall:

- (a) receive pro-rated PTO and extended sick leave, and pro-rated educational benefits; and
- (b) be eligible to be covered by the Employer's employee benefit plans, including by way of example but not limitation the Medical Plan, Dental Plan and Vision Plan negotiated for the bargaining unit, the Retirement Plan, the Life Insurance Plan, and the Accidental Death and Dismemberment Insurance Plan on the same basis as full-time 40-hour employees.

#### 11.8 RECLASSIFICATION OF PART-TIME EMPLOYEES

A part-time employee who is regularly scheduled to work or works an average of thirty-two (32) or forty (40) hours per week for a period of nine (9) consecutive pay periods may be reclassified as a full-time 32-hour or 40-hour employee provided the eligible part-time employee has notified the Employer in writing of his/her election. Such reclassification shall be made effective at the beginning of the pay period following the Employer's receipt of the request.

An eligible employee may be reclassified to a regular position under this Section only where there is an existing, open regular position. A position is not open if another employee is entitled to claim the position under the provisions of the Agreement; if a regular employee is on leave and entitled to return to his/her position; or if a regular employee is otherwise entitled to claim the position pursuant to the requirements of law.

#### 11.9 RECLASSIFICATION OF PRN EMPLOYEES

A PRN employee who is regularly scheduled to work or works an average of twenty-four (24) or more hours per week for a period of nine (9) consecutive pay periods may be

reclassified as a full-time or part-time employee based on average weekly hours worked during the nine (9) consecutive pay periods, provided the eligible PRN employee has notified the Employer in writing of his/her election. Such reclassification shall be made effective at the beginning of the pay period following the Employer's receipt of the request.

An eligible employee may be reclassified to a regular position under this Section only where there is an existing, open regular position. A position is not open if another employee is entitled to claim the position under the provisions of the Agreement; if a regular employee is on leave and entitled to return to his/her position; or if a regular employee is otherwise entitled to claim the position pursuant to the requirements of law.

#### 11.10 EXCLUSIONS RELATED TO 11.8 AND 11.9

In calculating the average hours worked in Sections 11.8 and 11.9, hours worked by an employee, pursuant to an award of a temporary, part-time, or PRN position to fill the hours of an employee on leave, shall be excluded.

As long as at least eighty percent (80%) of the full time equivalents (FTEs) are filled with regular employees, the provisions of Sections 11.8 and 11.9 shall not apply.

## 11.11 <u>RECLASSIFICATION OF FULL-TIME OR PART-TIME EMPLOYEE TO PRN</u> STATUS

Non-probationary employees may move to PRN status, as defined in this Agreement. Employees desiring to move to PRN status must give the Employer no less than a three (3) full payroll period notice. Should an emergency or unforeseen circumstance preclude the employee's giving full notice, then such notice must be given as soon as the need to move to PRN status is known to the employee along with an explanation as to why the employee was unable to give the full notice. In situations where less than full notice has been given, the Employer may determine the timing of the requested move based upon patient care needs.

#### **ARTICLE 12 – SENIORITY**

#### 12.1 DEFINITION OF SENIORITY

Seniority is defined as the length of time an employee is continuously employed in any capacity by the Employer. Seniority shall have no applicability during the probationary period.

- (a) <u>Definition of Seniority for Continuing Members of the Union</u>. Employees employed by the Employer effective October 1, 2016 who were either 1) members of the Union immediately prior to their employment with the Employer, or 2) were laid off by Corizon in December 2015 or later, shall retain their seniority status with respect to wages, benefits, and all other matters covered by this CBA. This definition of "continuing members of the Union" only applies for purposes of seniority.
- (b) <u>Impact of Unpaid Leaves on Seniority</u>. Continuously employed is defined as the length of time from the last date of hire, excluding the length of time an employee is

on unpaid leave, except where applicable law prohibits exclusion of leave for determining any benefit of employment.

## 12.2 <u>CALCULATION OF SERVICE FOR PRN EMPLOYEES CHANGING TO REGULAR STATUS</u>

If a PRN becomes a full-time 40-hour, full-time 32-hour, or part-time employee, her/his length of service for the purpose of calculating paid time off benefits shall be retroactive thirty-six (36) months or from the date the PRN employee first performed services for the Employer, whichever is less.

#### 12.3 LOSS OF SENIORITY

Seniority shall be lost and employment terminated when:

- (a) Discharge for Just Cause. The employee is discharged for just cause;
- (b) <u>Voluntary Termination</u>. The employee terminates voluntarily without rehire within ninety (90) days;
- (c) <u>Absence without Notification</u>. The employee is absent for three (3) consecutive working days without notifying the Employer, except in a validated emergency;
- (d) <u>Failure to Return after Recall</u>. The employee fails to return to work after a layoff within five (5) days from the date the notice of the employee's recall from layoff is mailed. Such notice shall be in the form of a certified letter sent to the last known address indicated on the Employer's records;
- (e) Layoff for One (1) Year. The employee is laid off for a period of one (1) year;
- (f) Exceeding Leave of Absence without Extension. The employee exceeds an authorized leave of absence or fails to obtain an extension; or
- (g) <u>Leave in Excess of One (1) Year</u>. The employee is on an unpaid leave of absence for sickness or injury, whatever the cause, in excess of one (1) year, unless otherwise required by law.

For purposes of this Section a laid off employee, who is recalled into any category of employment (i.e., full-time, part-time, temporary, PRN, etc.) shall have satisfied the recall requirement irrespective of the employment category the employee occupied at the time of his/her layoff. Should the employee be subsequently laid off, the period for determining loss of seniority will commence again.

#### 12.4 LAYOFF

The Employer will make every effort to avoid a layoff. If a layoff is necessary it shall be conducted as set forth below. It is the intent of the following provisions to protect the most senior employees in case of reductions, and to preserve their shift and hours as is practicable under the circumstances.

(a) <u>Process for Layoff</u>. In the event a layoff becomes necessary, employees within a job classification shall be laid off in reverse order of seniority as follows, skill and ability being approximately equal: first, volunteers among an affected classification,

- then temporary employees, then probationary employees, then PRN employees, then part-time employees, and then full-time employees.
- (b) Reduction of Hours. If there is a reduction of hours affecting the remaining positions as a result of the layoff, such reduction of hours shall be done by classification in reverse order of seniority, skill and ability being approximately equal.
- (c) Work Availability for Employees on Layoff. Employees on layoff who have indicated in writing their availability to work on an "as needed" basis shall be offered available work by seniority in the following order: full-time employees, part-time employees, PRN employees, probationary employees and temporary employees.
- (d) Notice of Layoff. In the event of a layoff, the Employer shall notify the affected employees at least twenty-five (25) days prior to implementing the layoff, provided that the Employer has foreknowledge of the financial or other necessity to layoff. Where possible, additional notice shall be given. If either the Warn Act or California Warn Act apply, 60 days' notice shall be given.
- (e) <u>Discussion with the Union Regarding the Impact of a Layoff</u>. The Employer shall provide prompt notice to the Union, and, upon request by the Union, shall meet to discuss alternatives. The Employer shall meet and confer with the Union over the impact of proposed layoffs.
- (f) Pay and Benefits for Employees Subject to Layoff. Full-time employees who are laid off and have two (2) or more years of service shall receive one (1) week's pay for each year of service up to a maximum of four (4) weeks. Part-time employees shall receive the prorated equivalent of one (1) week of pay for each year of service up to a maximum of four (4) prorated weeks' pay. In addition, the Employer shall reimburse employees who elect insurance continuation benefits under COBRA for the cost of their COBRA insurance premiums for a period of two (2) months following the date of layoff.

If the Employer loses its contract with the Alameda County Sheriff's Office and an employee is laid off as a result, the provision of this Subsection shall not be applicable to such employee.

- (g) <u>Recall</u>. In the event a vacancy(ies) occurs within the job classification from which employees were laid off, employees will be recalled in the order of their seniority in the following order, skill and ability being approximately equal: full-time employees first; then part-time employees; then PRN employees; and, finally, temporary employees.
  - i. No Right to Recall. Probationary employees and those who lose their seniority shall have no right to recall.
  - ii. <u>No New Probationary Period</u>. Recalled employees shall not be required to serve a new probationary period.

- iii. <u>Reinstatement of Sick Leave</u>. An employee's unused sick leave will be reinstated if the employee resumes work during the recall period.
- (h) Notice of Vacancies to Employees on Layoff. For a period of one (1) year from the layoff, employees on layoff will receive copies of all internal job postings in the bargaining unit. At the time of layoff the employee will notify the Employer if she/he wishes to receive such notices by certified mail or e-mail.

#### 12.5 JOB VACANCIES

In the case of a vacancy the most senior, qualified employee shall be given the position, upon written request, skill and ability being approximately equal. Qualifications for vacant positions shall appear on position postings. Postings shall include job classification, hours, shift, days off (if fixed) and whether the days off are fixed or variable, work site, etc.

- (a) <u>Posting of Vacancies</u>. Permanent vacancies for full-time, part-time, and PRN employee positions will be posted for ten (10) calendar days in a location or locations accessible to all employees in order to allow employees to apply. This does not prevent the Employer from filling the vacancy on a temporary basis during the ten (10) day posting period. Such postings will be dated as of the first (1st) day they are posted, and a copy shall be sent to the Union (but any unintentional failure to send the posting to the Union shall not impact the validity of the posting).
- (b) <u>Trial Period</u>. Employees selected to fill a permanent vacancy in a different classification shall serve a trial period of ninety (90) days. If during the trial period the employee is found not to be able to perform in a satisfactory manner or chooses to voluntarily abandon the new position, the employee will be returned to his/her former position and, in turn, employees who have filled vacancies created by this process shall be returned to their positions and/or laid off pursuant to this Agreement.

#### 12.6 SCHEDULING AND ADDITIONAL HOURS

The Employer will prepare the schedule as follows:

- (a) <u>Regular Employees Scheduled According to Status</u>. The Employer will schedule all full-time and part-time employees according to their status;
- (b) Non-Overtime Hours Offered to Part-Time Employees First. The Employer will offer by seniority and classification, all non-overtime shifts, first to part-time employees who are qualified and have made themselves available for additional shifts.
- (c) Non-Overtime Hours Offered to PRN Employees Next. The Employer will schedule qualified and trained PRN employees by classification, for the remaining non-overtime shifts according to their availability, by seniority. (Note: An employee shall be considered to be trained if that employee has completed the Employer's standard training requirements for that classification, the details of which must be made available to all employees and the Union.) Where multiple requests

("availability") for the same hours cannot be met, scheduling preference shall be given to the more senior PRN staff, skills and abilities being equal.

(d) Order of Additional Hours to Volunteers. Except in cases where specialized skills are needed or special circumstances exist, the Employer shall assign hours/shifts that become available, after the final schedule is posted, to trained employees who have volunteered in writing for additional hours. (Note: An employee shall be considered to be trained if that employee has completed the Employer's standard training requirements for that classification, the details of which must be made available to all employees and the Union.)

<u>Regular Hours.</u> Such work shall be assigned in the following order on a seniority basis, subject to any limitations otherwise set forth in this Article:

- i. All full time and part time employees for whom such work shall not result in overtime.
- ii. All PRN employees for whom such work shall not result in overtime.
- iii. All other employees in the department for whom work would not result in overtime.

An employee has no right under this subsection to be considered for a shift that overlaps his or her scheduled hours on the same date (excluding any overlap of up to thirty (30) minutes resulting from an employee working back-to-back shifts).

Overtime Hours. If the work would result in overtime for any employee that performs it, such work shall be assigned in the following order on a seniority basis, subject to any limitations otherwise set forth in this Article:

- i. All full time employees who have volunteered in writing for additional hours.
- ii. All part time employees who have volunteered in writing for additional hours.
- iii. All PRN employees who have volunteered in writing for additional hours.

Employees may continue to make themselves available for overtime work by informing the Employer in processes the Employer has established provided once an employee has exercised his/her seniority over other employees in securing at least three (3) overtime shifts in one (1) pay period, he/she may not exercise his/her seniority to obtain more overtime shifts. Such overtime shifts\_cannot occur on more than two (2) consecutive calendar days absent the Employer's approval.

An employee has no right under this subsection to be considered for a shift that overlaps his or her scheduled hours on the same date (excluding any overlap of up to thirty (30) minutes resulting from an employee working back-to-back shifts.

(e) <u>Avoiding the Use of Overtime</u>. Before the Employer offers such shifts to employees on the list for whom the work would result in overtime, the Employer may choose to

- offer the shifts to employees who are not on the list and for whom the work would not result in overtime.
- (f) When Overtime Would Result for All Available Employees. If the work would result in overtime for all available employees, the Employer may assign the work to the available employee who is currently on duty without regard to seniority, provided that in such cases the Employer will first offer the overtime to full-time or part-time employees on duty who have indicated an availability for the shift before offering it to PRN employees who have indicated an availability.
- (g) <u>Determination of Hours to Be Given</u>. Nothing in this Agreement will affect the Employer's right to decide in a given case how many, if any, hours it will attempt to cover/replace in the event scheduled staff become unavailable.
- (h) Obligations of Volunteers for Additional Hours. If an employee who has volunteered to be available for a shift fails or refuses to report to work when called for that shift, the employee will not be eligible for additional hours for a period of ninety (90) days. Employees may not withdraw their availability within the forty-eight (48) hours prior to the commencement of the shift for which they have indicated availability.
- (i) <u>If No Employees Have Indicated Availability</u>. The Employer may decide to whom it will offer additional hours for which no employees have indicated availability.
- (j) Twenty-Four (24) Hour Availability List. Notwithstanding the above, the Employer will establish a twenty-four (24) hour availability list to fill shift vacancies on a first-come, first-served basis without regard to an employee's seniority or status, all skills and abilities being equal. The Employer may elect not to use someone for whom the work would result in overtime. This clause, in particular, applies only to shift vacancies that arise with less than 24 hours remaining until the start of the vacant shift; otherwise, Subsection (d) above applies.
- (k) <u>Additional Hours on a First-Come, First-Served Basis</u>. Once the schedule is posted, employees may request to work shifts left unfilled by the process outlined above on a first-come, first-served basis.
- (l) Exception to the Use of Volunteers. In filling shifts made available because of a sick leave call off, the Employer may ask someone from the previous shift if she/he wants to work the available hours before calling employees who have made themselves available for additional/overtime hours.
- (m) Roster of Employees for Purposes of This Article/Use of Bargaining Unit Employees to Avoid Overtime. The Employer will maintain a current roster of employees by classification and seniority for the purpose of this Subsection. In no case will the Employer be required to fill a shift vacancy with an employee resulting in the payment of overtime when the filling of said vacancy can be done utilizing a bargaining unit employee which would not result in the payment of overtime as per Article 13, Hours of Work and Overtime, Section 13.3, Overtime at Time and a Half, and Subsection 13.3(a), Overtime at Double Time.

#### (n) Special Scheduling Terms

- i. <u>Assignment of Additional Duties to a Charge Nurse Only in an Emergency</u>. Except in emergencies, a Charge Nurse will not be assigned additional duties when a supervisor is not on duty.
- ii. Out Patient Housing Unit (OPHU) Nurse. The designated OPHU nurse will not have any additional housing assignments in accordance with accreditation requirements.
- iii. <u>Assignment of Nurses in the Out Patient Housing Unit</u>. The intent of the Employer is to staff the OPHU in such a way as to enable employees to provide care that addresses the need of the patients. Such staffing will take into account acuity, census, and any other relevant criteria. Assignments will be at the Employer's discretion, based on acuity.
- iv. <u>Intake, Transfer and Receiving Nurse</u>. When there is only one (1) ITR nurse, the ITR nurse will have no additional housing assignments.
- v. Staffing and Scheduling Concerns. The Employer, valuing the input of its employees in resolving issues regarding staffing, agrees to meet with the Union representative and no more than three (3) employees selected by the Union on a quarterly basis, upon request by either party, to address staffing concerns with the objective of attempting to correct any issues that currently exist or may arise during the term of this Agreement relative to the matrix, the process for scheduling shifts, the process for the manner in which employees seek additional shifts, etc. The Employer shall not pay any employees for their attendance. Any of the Union representatives or employees listed above or Employer representative may attend virtually, if so desired. No one else may attend in person or virtually, absent mutual agreement in writing.

#### ARTICLE 13 – HOURS OF WORK AND OVERTIME

#### 13.1 WORKWEEK

The regularly scheduled workweek for all full-time employees shall consist of forty (40) hours per week. Each workweek commences at 12:00 a.m. Sunday and concludes at 11:59 p.m. Saturday. The Employer will not schedule on a regular basis a workweek of more than forty (40) hours, but employees may be required to perform work on an overtime basis.

#### 13.2 WORKDAY

The regular workday shall consist of eight (8) consecutive hours, not including a meal period of one-half (1/2) hour. Each workday shall consist of one (1) full calendar day, 12:00 a.m. to 11:59 p.m. The parties acknowledge that the parameters of a regularly scheduled workweek and workday are only intended to be definitional.

#### 13.3 OVERTIME AT TIME AND A HALF

One and one-half (1-1/2) times the regular hourly rate shall be paid for time worked in excess of eight (8) hours and up to and including twelve (12) hours in a consecutive twenty-four (24) hour period, or forty (40) hours in a work week.

- (a) Overtime at Double Time. Two (2) times the regular hourly rate shall be paid for all hours worked in excess of twelve (12) hours in a consecutive twenty-four (24) hour period.
- (b) Process for Requiring Overtime and No Pyramiding of Overtime. The Employer retains the right to require an employee(s) to work overtime which will not be done in an arbitrary or capricious manner. Where overtime is required, the Employer will ask for volunteers in the job classification at the facility where overtime is needed. An overtime roster will be maintained by job classification within each facility. If there are not the requisite number of volunteers, the Employer will require qualified person(s) on duty to work overtime, such selections to be made from the overtime roster in inverse order of seniority on a rotating basis. There shall be no pyramiding of overtime by reason of the application of any provisions of this Agreement relating to payment of wages.
- (c) Returning to Work Within Twelve (12) Hours of Prior Shift. The Employer may request employees to return to work less than twelve (12) hours after the end of their prior shift, but no employee shall be required to return to work less than twelve (12) hours after the end of their prior shift, except in case of an emergency.

#### 13.4 ESTABLISHMENT OF SCHEDULES

The Employer has the right to establish work schedules and starting times and to change such schedules as reasonably necessary for efficient operations, none of which will be done in an arbitrary or capricious manner. Without limitation to the Employer's exclusive right to establish work schedules, it is the intent of the Employer to give scheduling priority to full-time and part-time employees and the Employer will make its best effort to accommodate employee's scheduling requests.

- (a) Normal Schedule Defined. While no employee has a set schedule, it is the intent of the Employer to:
  - i. make a reasonable effort to give full-time and part-time employees a normal schedule, defined as having consistent days off each pay period and the same start time for each scheduled workday;
  - ii. to give two (2) consecutive days off, if requested, in any workweek to full-time and part-time employees.
- (b) Process for Changing Posted Schedule by Employer. Posted schedules may be changed by mutual agreement between the Employer and the affected employee, or changed when it is necessary to cover unexpected and urgent patient care needs. In such cases, management shall first seek volunteers to fill the unexpected schedule need or change. If there are no volunteers, then the additional shift(s) shall be assigned by reverse order of seniority, e.g., to the least senior qualified employee. If

after the schedule is posted, a schedule change is necessary, the affected employee will be given notice orally or in writing as far in advance as possible including the reasons for the proposed change. Reasonable efforts will be made to minimize any inconvenience.

(c) Process for Changing Posted Schedule by Employee. If, after the schedule is posted, an employee requests a schedule change, the employee will give as much written or oral notice as is possible, inform the Employer of the reasons and attempt to arrange for a substitute within the same classification, subject to the Employer's approval, without incurring overtime. The Employer will make a reasonable effort to accommodate the request. If the request cannot be accommodated, the employee will be required to work as scheduled.

For vacation requests made by an employee in accordance with Subsection 13.4(d) below, and after the ten (10) calendar day window in advance of the date for posting the hours of work schedule, the employee requesting the day off is to provide a completed and approved switch form documenting the employee replacing him/her. Regardless of the employee's finding the replacement (employee or supervisor), a switch form is to be submitted to the HSA, or other Employer designated person or department, with the vacation request in order for that vacation to be paid. Switch shifts are not to incur overtime. If the requested day off arrangement will incur overtime, then the requested day off will be automatically denied.

- (d) Work Schedules for a Twenty-Eight (28) Day Period. The Employer will post hours of work schedules for a 28-day period. The hours of work schedules will be posted at least fourteen (14) calendar days in advance of the scheduled implementation date. All full and part-time employees must give their supervisors, or in the supervisor's absence, the Director of Nursing (DON), their special requested days off (other than their normal schedule) in writing and requested vacation days in writing ten (10) calendar days in advance of the date for posting the hours of work schedules whenever possible. As a general rule, work schedules shall coincide with payroll periods. Twenty-eight (28) day schedules shall start on the first (1st) day of a pay period and end on the last day of a pay period.
- (e) Availability Requirements for PRN Employees. All PRNs must give dates and shifts available in writing fourteen (14) calendar days in advance of the posting of the hours of work schedules. Once PRNs have submitted requested days off or dates and shifts of availability, as applicable, they may not make any change without the approval of the supervisor.

PRNs must provide at least three shifts of availability per 30-day period, of which two must be evening, night or weekend shifts.

- i. <u>Holiday Work</u>. PRNs may be required to work two (2) holidays per calendar year, the first (1<sup>st</sup>) of which will occur between January 1 and June 30 and the second, between July 1 and December 30.
- ii. Shifts Outside the Regular PRN's Stated Availability. A PRN is not precluded from making him/herself available for additional weekend or weekday shifts.

- (f) Requests for Time Off. It is the responsibility of the employee to submit work schedule requests for time off or availability as required above. Employees who fail to do so may be scheduled as the Employer's needs dictate and the employee and Union waive grievances of any such persons regarding scheduling for that period.
- (g) Employee Initiated Call Off. For purposes of calling off, employees shall call in at least two (2) hours prior to the shift to facilitate staff replacement, except in a validated emergency where phoning would have been impossible. Absent an emergency when calling in, the employee must speak with the immediate supervisor, supervisor's previously identified designee, or the Charge Nurse if available. The relevant phone numbers are provided by the Employer.
- (h) <u>PRN Removal from Roster</u>. A PRN may be removed from the employee roster if the PRN fails to comply with the Subsection 13.4(e), When scheduling PRNs, or fails to report to work as scheduled without calling at least two (2) hours prior to the shift, except in a validated emergency where phoning would have been impossible.

Except as otherwise required by law, PRN employees who have not fulfilled their availability to work six (6) times within a two-month period or who have not provided the Employer with their work availability for two or more consecutive month-long periods may be removed from the employee roster by the Employer. PRNs may also be removed from the roster if they fail to work any shifts for a two-month period. Those PRN employees who would otherwise fall into the aforementioned categories who provided appropriate call off notice within the two-month period will not be subject to removal. Further, those employees who can demonstrate that their failure to comply with the above requirements is due to an injury or illness shall not be subject to removal from the roster for failure to comply with Subsection 13.4(e), Availability Requirements for PRN employees.

The foregoing is in addition to any other right of the Employer to discharge an employee under this Agreement.

#### 13.5 REST PERIODS

Employees working a regular workday shall be entitled to two (2) rest periods, one fifteen-minute period in the first (1<sup>st</sup>) four (4) hours of their shift, and one fifteen-minute period in the remainder of their shift. The Employer retains the right to assign rest periods.

#### 13.6 REPORTING PAY

PRNs shall receive a minimum of two (2) hours' notice prior to cancellation of a previously scheduled shift, unless the cancellation results from the accommodation of a full-time or part-time employee or an emergency situation. Where the two (2) hours of notice is not given where required, the PRN shall be entitled to two (2) hours of pay.

(a) Reporting to Work After Being Called In. Any employee who is called in within one (1) hour of the beginning of a shift, and arrives within thirty (30) minutes after the start of that shift shall be compensated from the beginning of the shift.

#### 13.7 MANDATORY OVERTIME

If an employee is required to do mandatory overtime for four (4) hours or more, she/he shall receive eighty dollars (\$80) in addition to the appropriate overtime rate of pay. It is understood that this provision is a holdover from the previous contract and that it may not be applicable in a CFMG or Wellpath facility. If the parties determine it is no longer applicable it may be removed by mutual agreement.

- (a) No Concerted Effort by Employees to Force the Employer to Pay Premiums. There will not be a concerted effort on the part of employees to avoid overtime for the purpose of forcing the Employer to pay the above referenced mandatory overtime premiums.
- (b) Every Reasonable Effort by the Employer to Avoid Mandatory Overtime. The Employer shall make every reasonable effort to avoid mandatory overtime. Except as provided for in this Subsection, overtime shall be voluntary and in accordance with applicable laws and regulations, except in emergency situations where patient care or physical facility operations would be seriously impacted. For purposes of this Subsection, "emergency situation" is defined as an unexpected situation and sudden occurrence of a serious and urgent nature that demands immediate attention including but not limited to call-offs by other employees.

#### 13.8 ADDITIONAL SICK CALL/PILL CALL

If an RN or LVN, including a Charge Nurse or a Booking Nurse, is required to do sick call and/or pill call that is not part of his/her regular assignment as a result of unfilled shift vacancies, he/she shall receive a sixty dollars (\$60.00) premium for each additional sick and/or pill call. It is understood that this provision is not applicable when such requirement is due to unanticipated changes in inmate population, housing assignments or other factors not due to unfilled shift vacancies.

Before assigning him/herself to an additional sick call/pill call, a Charge Nurse shall check with the Director of Nursing or other nurse manager, designated for this purpose, to attempt to find alternative coverage.

It is understood that this provision is a holdover from the previous contract and that it may not be applicable in a CFMG or Wellpath facility. If the parties determine it is no longer applicable it may be removed by mutual agreement.

#### 13.9 MEAL VOUCHER FOR ADDITIONAL SHIFT

Upon request, any RN or LVN required to work more than four (4) hours of a second consecutive shift will receive a voucher entitling him/her to one (1) meal in the facility cafeteria to be used by him/her on that day. The Employer will make a reasonable effort to furnish the voucher to the nurse toward the beginning of said second consecutive shift and such voucher must be used during said second shift or must be returned to the Employer.

#### ARTICLE 14 – PROBATIONARY PERIOD

#### 14.1 PROBATIONARY PERIOD

All newly hired non-PRN employees shall serve a probationary period of ninety (90) calendar days, excluding paid time off and unpaid leave. Newly hired PRN employees shall serve a probationary period of one hundred twenty (120) calendar days.

This provision will not apply to employees who were members of the Union prior to being hired by the Employer.

#### 14.2 SENIORITY UPON COMPLETION OF PROBATIONARY PERIOD

Upon satisfactory completion of the probationary period, any seniority will be computed from the date of hire or rehire. Seniority for employees who were members of the Union prior to their employment with the Employer shall be defined as described in Subsection 12.1(a), Definition of Seniority for Continuing Members of the Union.

#### 14.3 DISCIPLINE/DISCHARGE DURING PROBATIONARY PERIOD

An employee may be disciplined or discharged during the probationary period without recourse to the grievance procedure, except where there is an allegation of discrimination under Article 9, Discrimination/Harassment. In a grievance processed for a probationary employee under this Article, the grievant will have the burden of proving that the discipline or termination was for a discriminatory reason, rather than the Employer having to establish just cause.

#### 14.4 ONBOARDING

- (a) RNs. Depending on the experience of newly hired full time or part time RNs, RNs will receive between seven (7) and ten (10) days of consecutive/comprehensive training (consecutive based on that employee's scheduled work days) signed off by an experienced orientation nurse and requiring also an RN supervisor sign-off after demonstrating basic competency in ATIMS, CorEMR, entering medication orders, HU tasks, medication administration, and responding to emergencies.
- (b) LVNs. Depending on the experience of newly hired full time or part time LVNs, LVNs will receive between seven (7) and ten (10) calendar days of consecutive/comprehensive training (consecutive based on that employee's scheduled work days) signed off by an experienced orientation nurse and also requiring RN supervisor sign-off after demonstrating basic competency in ATIMS, Cor EMR, entering medication orders, medication administration and assisting with responding to emergencies.

#### **ARTICLE 15 – PAYCHECKS**

#### 15.1 NOTICE OF CHANGE IN PAY RATE

An employee shall be notified in writing of a change in his or her regular rate of pay; i.e., by copy of the relevant personnel action form or notice (PAF a.k.a. PAN).

#### 15.2 EMPLOYER ERRORS IN PAY

Verified Employer errors resulting in underpayments to employees shall be corrected and an additional check for the underpayment amount shall be issued to the employee within three (3) business days.

#### 15.3 CORRECTION OF ERRORS IN ACCRUED BENEFITS

Verified errors in accrued benefits as a result of errors of the type contemplated in Section 15.2, Employer Errors in Pay, above shall be corrected in the following pay period. It is understood and agreed that employees shall suffer no loss of benefits due to Employer errors that are verified and presented in a timely manner.

#### 15.4 EMPLOYEE REPORTING ERRORS

Upon notification from the employee or discovery by the Employer of an employee reporting error; e.g., failure to report charge pay before the close of the pay period, the error will be corrected in the next full pay period.

#### 15.5 OTHER ERRORS

Unless otherwise mutually agreed, other payment errors resulting in improper payments (e.g., overpayments, etc.) shall be corrected by the same amount and over the same number of pay periods as they occurred, or may be deducted in a lump sum payment, at the employee's option, except in the case of voluntary or involuntary termination in which case the overpayment may be recouped in a lump sum from the employee's final paycheck.

#### ARTICLE 16 – PERFORMANCE EVALUATION

#### 16.1 EVALUATIONS SIGNED BY EMPLOYEE

All written evaluations placed in an employee's personnel file shall be signed and dated at the time of the evaluation by the employee to indicate that the employee has read the document. The document will have a line indicating agreement and a line indicating disagreement but acknowledgment of receipt. The employee may sign either.

#### 16.2 RIGHT OF REBUTTAL

Every employee has the right to rebut a performance evaluation in writing. Within ten (10) days of the receipt of the written evaluation, the employee must submit his or her rebuttal in writing.

#### 16.3 MEETING WITH MANAGEMENT

The employee may request a meeting with the appropriate management personnel to consider the rebuttal and revision of the evaluation. In lieu of revision of the evaluation, the rebuttal shall become part of the evaluation in the personnel file.

#### 16.4 EVALUATIONS AND THE GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

Only procedural aspects of the evaluation process and not the content of the evaluation are subject to the grievance procedure; however, if the Employer uses an employee's evaluation to substantiate any disciplinary action, the Employer's relevant factual representations in the evaluation may be disputed in the grievance and arbitration procedure, provided the employee has disputed the factual representations at the time the evaluation is delivered.

#### 16.5 PEER EVALUATION COMMENT ADDED TO EVALUATION

At the employee's option, an employee can have a Peer Evaluation Comment added to his/her performance evaluation by a co-worker working within his/her unit.

#### ARTICLE 17 – DISCIPLINE AND DISCHARGE

## 17.1 <u>DISCIPLINE/DISCHARGE FOR JUST CAUSE AND MAINTENANCE OF SECURITY</u> CLEARANCE

Non-probationary employees shall only be disciplined or discharged for just cause.

To maintain his/her employment, each employee must retain his/her own security clearance from the Alameda County Sheriff's Office. If the County Sheriff's Office directs the Employer to replace or remove an employee for loss of security clearance or for any other lawful reason, such reason shall be deemed just cause for termination. The Employer will have no further obligations under this Agreement to the employee regardless of the reason for the loss of the security clearance or the reason given by the County Sheriff's Office.

Except as otherwise stated herein, the operation of this Section, 17.1, shall not be used as a means to circumvent this Discipline and Discharge Article and/or the grievance procedure of this Agreement.

It is the intent of the foregoing to describe generally security clearance revocation by the Sheriff's Office itself, which is and shall remain the province of the Sheriff's Office and not the Employer. It is understood and agreed that the Employer may not initiate a security clearance revocation as a means to abrogate the terms of this Agreement; however, nothing herein shall be construed to prevent good faith cooperation in any lawful investigation or proceeding initiated by the Sheriff's Office, nor shall it be construed to prevent the Employer from bringing facts to the attention of the Sheriff's Office in good faith, even if such information ultimately results in a security clearance investigation. Discipline or discharge of non-probationary employees shall be subject to the grievance and arbitration procedure.

#### 17.2 APPROPRIATE DISCIPLINE

The Employer shall determine the appropriate discipline to administer. In so doing the Employer will consider the seriousness of the offense, the record of the employee and the conditions under which the offense took place. Unless circumstances warrant more severe actions, the Employer will use a system of progressive discipline.

(a) <u>Forms of Progressive Disciplinary Action</u>. Progressive disciplinary action may take several forms, for example, verbal counseling (documented), demotion and/or probation, written counseling and/or warnings, disciplinary suspensions with or without pay, and/or termination of employment. All disciplinary actions may become a permanent part of the employee's personnel file.

#### 17.3 DISCIPLINE FOR PERFORMANCE AND/OR ATTENDANCE

Where the cause of discipline is poor performance and/or poor attendance, the disciplinary notice must advise the employee in writing of the general time period during which the employee must evidence sustained improvement and, if warranted in the judgment of the Employer, the date on which termination will occur if sustained improvement is not made. The Employer may accelerate the termination date if performance declines during this period or if other intervening events occur that warrant discipline in the Employer's judgment.

#### 17.4 WRITTEN NOTICE OF DISCIPLINE

When an employee is terminated, suspended with or without pay or demoted, the Employer will notify the employee by written notice setting forth the effective date of the discipline, the form of the discipline (e.g., termination, suspension, or demotion) and the reason for the discipline or in lieu thereof the Employer shall send the employee the notice by certified mail.

#### 17.5 WEINGARTEN RIGHTS OF EMPLOYEES

Employees shall be entitled to Union representation, in accordance with the requirements of the law, during investigations that could possibly lead to disciplinary actions.

#### 17.6 ISSUE, ENFORCEMENT, AND CHANGE OF WORK RULES

The Employer has the right to issue, enforce and change working rules. A copy of the written changes in such rules will be forwarded to the Union but any accidental failure to do so will not impact the validity of the rules.

#### 17.7 WRITTEN REBUTTALS

Employees shall have the right to submit a written rebuttal to any written warning or reprimand or other documentation of a negative nature. All rebuttals shall be placed in the employee's personnel file.

# 17.8 <u>INSTANCES WHERE FORMER DISCIPLINE IS NOT USED FOR PROGRESSIVE</u> DISCIPLINE

Prior disciplinary actions and documentation of a negative nature and written warnings of reprimand shall not be used as a basis for progressive discipline where there has been no reoccurrence of a similar offense in a one (1) year period.

#### ARTICLE 18 – ACCESS TO PERSONNEL RECORDS

#### 18.1 REVIEWING ONE'S PERSONNEL FILE

An employee, upon request and at reasonable times and intervals, shall be permitted to review the contents of his or her personnel file, excluding letters of reference and information relating to the investigation of a possible criminal offense.

#### 18.2 UNION REPRESENTATIVE'S REVIEW OF AN EMPLOYEE'S PERSONNEL FILE

Union representatives shall be permitted to review employee records when accompanied by the employee, or upon presentation of a written authorization signed by the employee, a Union representative may request a copy of the employee's personnel record. The Employer shall provide one copy of the record without charge.

#### ARTICLE 19 – GRIEVANCE / ARBITRATION PROCEDURE

#### 19.1 GRIEVANCE DEFINED

A grievance shall be defined as any dispute or complaint arising between the Union and the Employer over the interpretation, application, or any alleged breach of this Agreement. Grievances shall be processed promptly, and both parties thereto shall make a reasonable effort to adjust or settle such disputes by the following steps:

#### 19.2 AVOIDING THE FORMAL GRIEVANCE PROCESS

Employees, shop stewards and members of management are encouraged to work together informally to resolve workplace issues so that it will not be necessary to file a formal grievance.

#### 19.3 STEP 1

The Union shop steward or the Union representative shall have the right to file a formal written grievance with the Health Services Administrator or designee. The grievance shall be considered null and void unless all of the following requirements are met.

- (a) <u>Signature of Steward or Union Representative Required</u>. The grievance must be signed by a Union shop steward or an authorized Union representative.
- (b) Twenty (20) Calendar Day Time Limit for Filing a Grievance. The grievance must be received by the responding party no later than twenty (20) calendar days of the event giving rise to the grievance.
- (c) <u>Basis for and Facts of the Grievance</u>. The grievance must specify in detail the facts upon which the grievance is based, including the date of alleged violation as well as the specific provisions of the Agreement violated.
- (d) Affected Employee(s) Set Forth in Grievance. In the case of grievances filed by the Union, the grievance must state the name(s) of the employee(s) who have been impacted by the violations alleged in the grievance, unless such grievance is a "class"

action/all affected" grievance, provided that nothing herein shall affect or restrict the Employer's right to obtain information regarding the grievance from the Union.

The responding party shall give its answer in writing to the employee and/or Union representative within ten (10) calendar days of its receipt.

#### 19.4 STEP 2

If the grievance is not satisfactorily settled in Step 1, the grieving party (the Union or the Employer) may, within ten (10) calendar days after the answer in Step 1 is received or was due, whichever is earlier, appeal the matter in writing to the Director of Operations or designee or to the assigned Union representative as the case may be. In the case of grievances filed by the Union, in order to be valid, the appeal must be signed and dated by a designated shop steward or Union representative. The responding party shall give its answer in writing to the other party within ten (10) calendar days of its receipt.

## 19.5 <u>STEP 3 - DEFERRING GRIEVANCE TO ARBITRATION AND SELECTION OF ARBITRATOR</u>

Subject to the limitations set forth in Section 19.4 above, if the grievance is not satisfactorily resolved in Step 2, the grievance may be deferred by the grieving party to arbitration, within eight (8) working days after the answer in Step 2 is received or was due. In the case of grievances filed by the Union, in order to be valid, the deferral to arbitration must be signed and dated by a Union representative (the signature by a shop steward shall not satisfy this latter requirement). A single arbitrator mutually satisfactory to both parties may be designated to settle the dispute. If the parties fail to agree to an arbitrator, the grieving party shall request the Federal Mediation and Conciliation Service ("FMCS") to send a list of seven (7) arbitrators to both the Union and the Employer. If the parties cannot then agree, each party shall alternately strike one (1) name from the list, the first (1<sup>st</sup>) strike being selected by lot, and the person remaining shall be the arbitrator. Each party retains the respective right to reject one (1) entire panel in each case and request the FMCS provide a second list from which the selection will be made by the alternative strike process herein.

#### 19.6 COSTS OF ARBITRATION AND RESTRICTIONS ON ARBITRATOR'S AWARD

The arbitrator shall decide the matter within the scope of this Agreement and shall have no power to make a determination inconsistent with the terms or provisions thereunder, or to add to, subtract from, alter or modify said provisions. The arbitrator shall not have the power to issue an award inconsistent with any applicable law. The decision of the arbitrator issued within the limits on the arbitrator's authority as set forth herein shall be final and binding on all parties. Nothing herein shall be construed to expand upon, detract from, or alter the generally recognized scope of judicial review of arbitration awards. Any fees and expenses of the arbitrator including the cost of the court reporter shall be shared equally by both parties. The individual parties shall be responsible for purchasing copies of the transcript, if they order a copy. Each party shall bear its own costs of representation and witnesses.

## 19.7 TIME LIMITS

Time limits may be extended or waived only by mutual agreement of the parties in writing, except that the failure to file the Step 1 grievance may not be extended or waived. Failure on the part of the Employer to answer a grievance at any step shall not be deemed acquiescence thereto. If no answer is given when due, the Union shall have the right to take the grievance to the next step or to the arbitration within the time limitations set forth herein, time being of the essence.

## 19.8 GRIEVANCE MEETINGS

At Step 1, the parties may, but are not required to, meet in person at a mutually agreeable time and place to discuss the grievance and negotiate a resolution. At Step 2, the parties should, but are not required to, meet in person at a mutually agreeable time and place to discuss the grievance and negotiate a resolution. No more than one shop steward shall receive pay or be excused from their shift for time spent attending such a grievance meeting.

# **ARTICLE 20 – PAID TIME OFF (PTO)**

## 20.1 PAID TIME OFF

The Employer provides full-time employees with paid time off ("PTO") from work. PTO combines vacation, sick leave, and holidays into a single policy. PTO may be taken for vacation, sick leave, holidays, or any other purpose. Full-time and part-time employees accrue PTO in accordance with the accrual schedule set forth below. Per diem and temporary employees do not accrue PTO.

PTO shall accrue on all hours paid out (hours worked, educational leave, PTO, etc.) excluding overtime and up to a limit of forty (40) hours per week. PTO hours are not considered hours worked for the purposes of calculating overtime.

Employees are encouraged to take their accrued PTO each year. Employees must request paid time off from their Program Manager or Supervisor as far in advance as possible. Paid time off will be scheduled so as to provide adequate coverage of job and staff requirements and subject to the requirements set forth below.

It is the responsibility of the employee to apply for any disability benefits for which he/she may be eligible as a result of illness or disability, including California State Disability Insurance, workers' compensation insurance, and/or any short-term disability insurance benefits for which the employee may qualify. The Employer will facilitate employees' applications for the above-mentioned benefits whenever possible.

PTO benefits will be fully integrated with other benefits available such that at no time will employees be paid more than their regular compensation including applicable differentials. Employees will not accrue PTO during unpaid leaves of absence.

Employees wishing to utilize their PTO should record the time requested and label as such on the time card.

## 20.2 PTO CARRYOVER

Employees cannot carry-over more than 360 hours from one calendar year to the next. At the end of the calendar year, unused PTO at or below the maximum accrual amount will carry-over to the following year.

## 20.3 PTO PAYOUT

PTO pay will be based on an employee's regular hourly rate.

Once per year, employees may elect to be paid out for any amount of PTO, provided they do not drop below eighty (80) accrued hours.

#### 20.4 SCHEDULED PTO USE

- (a) <u>Calendar for Awarding PTO</u>. All requests for PTO shall be awarded by seniority based on the following: from January 1 through January 31, employees shall submit their written PTO requests for the period March 1 through February 28 of the following year. These requests for PTO will be awarded by February 15.
- (b) Requests for PTO Submitted After February 15. After February 15, any new requests for PTO and any changes in granted/scheduled PTO must be submitted in writing at least ten (10) days in advance of the date the schedule is posted. The granting of such requests will be on a first-come, first-served basis and will also be based on current policy allowing for a set number of employees to be scheduled off at any given time in a specific assignment/classification and worksite, e.g., 3 RNs/LVNs on day shift at Santa Rita worksite.

If the set number of employees has already been granted for a specific time period that is being requested, the employee requesting the new PTO or the change in PTO shall be responsible for finding a qualified substitute to fill his/her schedule as a condition of the granting of the PTO.

Any such request or change must be mutually agreeable to the Employer and employee.

The scheduling of the substitute must not require the payment of overtime or any other premium or differential that would not otherwise have been payable to the employee originally scheduled for the shift. The employee shall submit the name of the employee he/she has arranged as a substitute on a form provided by the Employer with the signatures of the employee and his/her substitute.

PTO shall be granted in accordance with the preceding Sections. In unusual or unforeseen circumstances, it may be granted with the prior approval of the employee's Program Manager or supervisor.

## 20.5 UNSCHEDULED PTO USE

Unscheduled paid time off may be taken only for an employee's own illness or injury or with approval of the HSA or designee. Certification by a health care provider may be

required for absences due to illness or injury of four (4) or more consecutive work days or for intermittent absences due to the same reason.

Unscheduled paid time off may also be taken pursuant to California's Kin Care law. Employees are encouraged to and responsible for citing Kin Care when appropriate.

## 20.6 PTO ACCRUAL SCHEDULE

Regular employees begin accrual of PTO upon hire. New employees are discouraged from taking PTO during the first three (3) months of employment so that new hire orientation will be uninterrupted.

Accrued, available PTO is used for any hours that are scheduled and not worked. Combined work hours and PTO may not exceed full-time employment for that period. PTO is paid at 100% once employment is terminated.

PTO will be accrued based on the following schedule:

COMPLETED YEARS OF SERVICE	TOTAL ACCRUED PTO DAYS
During first year of employment	27
1	27
2	27
3	32
4	32
5	34
6	34
7	34
8	34
9	35
10	36
15	38
20	40

#### 20.7 PTO HOLIDAYS

PTO use shall be automatic for the following days unless the employees work on the holiday:

New Year's Day
Martin Luther King, Jr.'s Birthday
President's Day
Memorial Day
Independence Day
Labor Day
Veteran's Day
Thanksgiving Day

Day after Thanksgiving Christmas Day

However, if the holiday falls on a day that an employee would otherwise be scheduled to work, and the employee's absence on that holiday is thereby occasioned by the Employer's discretion, then the employee shall have the option of either using PTO on that day or taking that day off unpaid.

For the holidays of Christmas, Thanksgiving and New Year's Day, Full-time or Part-time employees may exercise their seniority to choose the one (1) holiday they want to be scheduled off but in the subsequent years they cannot use their seniority to schedule the same holiday off, subject to operational needs (such as, for example, leaving no staff in a given department). Alleged violations of the preceding sentence are not subject to the grievance and arbitration procedure in this Agreement.

## 20.8 HOLIDAY PREMIUM

An employee working any holiday shall be paid time and one half  $(1\frac{1}{2})$  the straight time pay plus appropriate differentials.

## 20.9 DONATION OF PTO

Employees may donate up to forty (40) hours of accumulated PTO to other employees who have exhausted their PTO balance due to catastrophic illness. The transfer shall be in hours of PTO regardless of any wage differences between donor and recipient.

#### 20.10 EXTENDED PAID SICK LEAVE

The Employer also provides an Extended Paid Sick Leave (ESL) Benefit for full-time and part-time employees.

Employees will accumulate ESL according to the following schedule; the days listed are granted on their anniversary date or date of hire. Part-time employees will be granted a prorated amount of ESL based on their FTE status, e.g. .6, .8 etc.

COMPLETED YEARS OF SERVICE	ANNUAL ESL ACCRUAL DAYS
During first year of employment	2
1	4
2	7
3	7
4	7
5	7
6	7
7	7
8	7
9	7

A maximum of five hundred (500) hours of ESL may be accrued. If an employee has five hundred (500) hours accrued, accrual will stop until there are fewer than five hundred (500) hours.

Employees are eligible to use ESL when the employee is unable to work due to illness or disability beginning on the fifth consecutive missed day of work or immediately upon hospitalization.

The total number of hours used from ESL, PTO, and available short-term disability benefits shall not exceed 100% of employee's normal daily pay. ESL is not an accrued benefit that is paid out upon termination of employment, and is only available to current full-time and part-time employees.

#### ARTICLE 21 – BEREAVEMENT LEAVE

#### 21.1 BENEFIT AND IMMEDIATE FAMILY DEFINED

Employees shall be entitled to up to three (3) working days paid bereavement leave when there is a death in their immediate family. Full-time and part-time and probationary employees shall be entitled to up to three (3) working days paid bereavement leave if the death and/or funeral/memorial service occurs on days the employee was scheduled to work. Immediate family shall be defined as the employee's spouse, domestic partner (as defined in California law), child, step-child, brother, sister, step-brother, step-sister, brother-in-law, sister-in-law, parent, step-parent, grandparent, grandchildren, legal guardian, legal ward, current father-in-law or current mother-in-law.

## 21.2 PAY FOR BEREAVEMENT LEAVE

An employee shall be paid for such days off if any such days off occur during the employee's regularly scheduled workweek. Pay for compensable bereavement leave shall be for the employee's regular schedule and regular rate of pay. Under no circumstances shall this provision result in an increase of an employee's normal earnings.

#### 21.3 ADDITIONAL DAYS FOR TRAVEL OF THREE HUNDRED (300) MILES

An additional two (2) working days without pay shall be granted for use in conjunction with paid bereavement leave if the employee must travel three hundred (300) miles or more each way; i.e., 300 miles to and 300 miles from the location of the funeral or memorial services.

#### 21.4 USE OF PAID LEAVE FOR BEREAVEMENT LEAVE

In lieu of unpaid leave for bereavement, the employee may use Paid Leave remaining in the employee's Paid Leave account.

#### 21.5 REASONABLE PROOF

The Employer may require reasonable proof of death satisfactory to the Employer; e.g., a funeral home letter, in order to be eligible for paid bereavement leave.

## ARTICLE 22 – JURY/WITNESS DUTY

## 22.1 PAY WHILE ON JURY DUTY

Any full-time or part-time, non-probationary employee required to serve jury duty is eligible for jury duty pay up to a maximum of ten (10) workdays in each instance he/she is called. The Employer shall pay an eligible employee the employee's regular hourly rate for the number of hours in the employee's normal scheduled workweek subject to a maximum of eight (8) hours a day, with a maximum of eighty (80) hours, less the amount of compensation that the employee is eligible to receive for service as a juror. Any employee subpoenaed to appear as a witness in a judicial procedure related to the Employer shall be paid his/her normal hourly rate. No deduction in leave time or break in service shall occur.

## 22.2 NOTICE TO EMPLOYER OF JURY DUTY

The receipt of a subpoena or the notice to report for jury duty must be reported as soon as possible to the Health Services Administrator or the employee's supervisor.

# 22.3 SEEKING POSTPONEMENT OF JURY DUTY

The Employer may require that the employee seek to postpone jury duty if, in the opinion of the Employer, the employee's services are essential at the time of the proposed jury service.

## 22.4 PROOF OF SERVICE AND REPORTING TO WORK

The employee will be required to submit to the Employer proof of service and the amount of payment received therefore and the Employer shall have no obligation to pay any jury duty pay until such documentation is received. If an employee scheduled for day shift is permanently or temporarily excused from jury service, the employee shall immediately notify the Employer and report to work for the remainder of his/her shift if so directed.

## 22.5 EVENING OR NIGHT SHIFT EMPLOYEES

An employee on jury duty who is scheduled to work the evening or night shift shall not be required to work. When permanently excused from jury service, the employee shall immediately notify the Employer and report to her/his next scheduled shift.

# 22.6 IF COURTS ARE CLOSED

If the Courts are closed on a given day and, as a result, the employee will not be required to report for jury service on that day, he/she shall notify his/her supervisor in order to report for work on that day.

## ARTICLE 23 – MILITARY LEAVE

#### 23.1 BENEFIT

The Employer will provide for three (3) weeks annual reserve training and reimburse the employee at the employee's regular hourly rate for the number of hours for the

employee's normal work week subject to a maximum of eight (8) hours a day, forty (40) hours a week, less the compensation received by the employee for military service for a maximum of fifteen (15) days. The granting of a military leave and/or payment of any wage differential is contingent upon the employee's giving the Employer timely written notice as required by law. Additional unpaid leave for military duty shall be granted as required by law.

# ARTICLE 24 – FAMILY AND MEDICAL LEAVE AND DISABILITY LEAVE OF ABSENCE

## 24.1 SIX MONTHS' LEAVE

Subject to the requirements set forth below, in cases where an employee's physical condition prevents the employee from performing the normal duties of his/her job, the Employer will grant an unpaid Leave of Absence (LOA) for disability of up to six (6) months in a (12) month period. The disability may be caused by a non-occupational illness or injury, including pregnancy, which requires medical treatment.

## 24.2 USE OF SICK LEAVE AND VACATION BEFORE A LEAVE

Employees will be required to use all of their accrued and unused sick leave and vacation before an injury, illness or disability LOA is granted.

#### 24.3 LEAVE IN ACCORDANCE WITH LAW

With the exception of the length of time for the LOA provided in Section 24.1, Six Months' Leave, all eligibility requirements and other administrative procedures for family leaves, pregnancy disability leaves and other leaves related to an employee's injury, illness or disability will be in accordance with the Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993, the California Family Rights Act, pregnancy-related disability leaves under California Government Code Section 12945 and other statutorily mandated leaves. The provisions of the unpaid LOA provided for in this Article shall apply only to the extent the time for this LOA exceeds other statutorily mandated leaves.

#### 24.4 RETURN TO ORIGINAL JOB CLASSIFICATION

Employees will be restored to their original job classification if they return at or before the expiration of the LOA.

## 24.5 NO ACCRUAL OF BENEFITS OR SENIORITY DURING LEAVE

During an authorized LOA, an employee shall not accrue additional benefits, shall retain his/her seniority but shall not accrue additional seniority.

The Employer will continue to pay the Employer's share of the employee's (and dependents', if applicable) medical, dental and life insurance premiums, provided he/she is enrolled in the group prior to the start of the LOA. It is the employee's responsibility to make the monthly premium payments for any benefit plans in which the employee or his/her dependents are enrolled in accordance with the Employer's procedures and the requirements of this Agreement.

## 24.6 NOT COVERED BY MALPRACTICE DURING LEAVE

During an authorized LOA, employees are not covered by the Employer's professional liability (malpractice) or general liability insurance.

## 24.7 ACCEPTANCE OF OTHER EMPLOYMENT DURING LEAVE CAUSE FOR TERMINATION

If an employee accepts other regular employment during a LOA, the leave will be canceled and employment will be terminated.

## 24.8 PHYSICIAN'S STATEMENT REQUIRED UPON RETURN FROM LEAVE

As a condition of reinstatement from a disability LOA, the employee must furnish a written statement from a physician verifying that he/she is physically able to perform his/her job functions. Securing this physician statement is at the employee's expense.

#### ARTICLE 25 – PARENTAL LEAVE

#### 25.1 SIX (6) MONTHS' PARENTAL LEAVE

Employees shall be granted up to a total of six (6) months parental leave for adoption of a child or to care for a newborn child, inclusive of any leave an employee may be entitled to for such purposes under the Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993 and the California Family Rights Act. Such six (6) months of parental leave will include any pregnancy disability leave granted pursuant to California's pregnancy disability leave law, California Government Code Section 12945, unless the pregnancy-related disability extends up to four (4) months, in which event the employee may take one additional month for the adoption of a child or to care for a newborn. With the exception of the length of time for the parental leave, all other eligibility requirements and administrative procedures will be in accordance with the Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993, the California Family Rights Act and California Government Code Section 12945.

## 25.2 ADOPTION

In the event of an adoption the parental leave will begin on the date the child is brought to the employee's home.

#### 25.3 BIRTH

In the event of a birth, the parental leave will begin on the date of the cessation of the medical disability associated with the birth for a female employee and on the date of birth of the child for a male employee.

## ARTICLE 26 – INDUSTRIAL LEAVE

26.1 In the case of a leave of absence attributable to an industrial injury or illness, in accordance with existing practices the employee will continue to be covered by the health, dental and insurance plans during the period of leave, not to exceed six (6) months, provided the employee continues to make the monthly premium payments for his or her own and any dependent coverage in any benefit plans in which the employee or his

or her dependents are enrolled in accordance with the Employer's procedures and the requirements of this Agreement. During an authorized Industrial leave, employees are not covered by the Employer's professional liability (malpractice) or general liability insurance. During the leave the employee will continue to accrue seniority. Vacation and Sick leave will continue to accrue during a leave of absence due to industrial injury or illness.

## 26.2 CONCURRENT LEAVE

Except as otherwise required by law, if a condition or reason for a leave entitles an employee to more than one (1) type of leave under Articles 26, 27, and 28, such leaves shall run concurrently.

## ARTICLE 27 – PERSONAL LEAVE

## 27.1 UNPAID PERSONAL LEAVE UP TO FOURTEEN (14) DAYS

Employees may request an unpaid personal leave of absence of up to fourteen (14) days subject to the requirements of efficient operation and the approval of such leave shall not be unreasonably denied. Such requests shall be directed to the Health Services Administrator or her/his designee.

## 27.2 UNPAID PERSONAL LEAVE NOT TO EXCEED THIRTY (30) DAYS

Employees may request an unpaid personal leave of more than fourteen (14) days not to exceed thirty (30) days and such leave may be granted subject to the discretion of the Health Services Administrator or his/her designee.

## ARTICLE 28 – LEAVE FOR EMPLOYMENT WITH THE UNION

#### 28.1 UP TO TWO (2) EMPLOYEES GRANTED LEAVE

Upon notification from the Union and subject to the agreement of the Employer, up to two (2) employees at any one time may be granted a leave of absence without pay for a period of up to six (6) months in a twelve (12) month period to work for the Union. During the leave of absence, the employee will not be eligible for employee benefits and will not accrue seniority.

# 28.2 <u>RETURN FROM LEAVE</u>

Upon completion of the leave, the employee will be returned to the same position and shift as the employee occupied immediately before the leave commenced, provided the position is still available/vacant. In the event the position is not available/vacant, the employee may apply for any available position for which the employee is competent/qualified, irrespective of shift. Nothing herein shall be construed to require a rebid, displacement or bumping of co-workers.

## ARTICLE 29 – TRAVEL ALLOWANCES

## 29.1 MILEAGE, TOLLS, AND PARKING

When requested by management, employees who use their personal autos for business travel shall receive reimbursement at the current IRS reimbursement rate per mile for each mile traveled. Employees shall receive reimbursement for tolls and parking charges that are incurred. Employees shall receive the reimbursement when temporarily assigned to a site other than their primary workplace.

## 29.2 TRAVEL TIME

When requested to travel by management employees shall receive their regular rate of pay for all required travel time, excluding travel to and from their permanent or temporary worksite.

# ARTICLE 30 – ACCESS TO THE SITE

## 30.1 ACCESS SUBJECT TO SHERIFF'S REGULATIONS AND POLICIES

Union, Employer, and visitor access to the worksite shall be governed at the discretion of the Sheriff's Office in accordance with the rules, regulations, and policies of the Sheriff's Office.

# ARTICLE 31 – HEALTH, DENTAL & VISION BENEFITS

The parties agree that the intent of the parties is to keep employee health insurance costs the same in aggregate for the life of the Agreement subject to agreed-upon annual premium increases.

## 31.1 PLAN OPTIONS

The Employer will make available to all eligible employees and their dependents (as defined by the Employer's insurance carrier) Kaiser plan 1069L. The Employer may offer additional Kaiser or non-Kaiser plans at the Employer's discretion.

For the Kaiser 1069L plan, employees shall continue to pay the following as of November 4, 2023:

		PLAN 1069L			
Coverage Level	Total Premiums (2023 Monthly)	Employee Share (2023 Monthly)	Employer Share (2023 Monthly)	Employee Percentage	Employer Percentage
Subscriber	\$948.31	\$227.59	\$720.72	24%	76%
Subscriber & Spouse	\$1,906.11	\$533.71	\$1,372.40	28%	72%
Subscriber & Child(ren)	\$1,583.68	\$538.45	\$1,045.23	34%	66%
Subscriber & Family	\$2,712.18	\$759.41	\$1,952.77	28%	72%

For the Kaiser 1069L plan, employees shall pay the following as of January 1, 2024:

PLAN 1069L						
Coverage Level	Total Premiums (2024_Monthly)	Employee Share (2024 Monthly)	Employer Share (2024 Monthly)	Employee Percentage	Employer Percentage	
Subscriber	\$1,084.21	\$241.25	\$842.96	22%	78%	
Subscriber & Spouse	\$2,179.26	\$565.73	\$1,613.53	26%	74%	
Subscriber & Child(ren)	\$1,810.63	\$570.76	\$1,239.87	32%	68%	
Subscriber & Family	\$3,100.84	\$804.97	\$2,295.87	26%	74%	

In the event the Employer offers additional plans, the Employer will contribute the same amount to those plans as it contributes to plan 1069L.

In the event medical premiums increase, the parties shall maintain the same percentage split as listed above.

However, the Employer commits that employees shall have their rates increased:

- (a) only if medical premiums increase;
- (b) only once per calendar year; and
- (c) up to a maximum of six percent (6%).

## 31.2 EMPLOYER'S NOTIFICATION TO THE UNION OF CHANGES IN THE PREMIUMS

Upon receiving notice of changes in the premium costs, the Employer will notify the Union as soon as reasonably possible.

#### 31.3 PAYMENT OF PREMIUMS THROUGH PAYROLL DEDUCTION

The employee will pay, via payroll deduction, authorized by the employee in writing, the balance of the premiums that they are obliged to pay. If, for any pay period, there are insufficient wages due and payable to the employee to cover the premium to be withheld, the employee must submit directly to the Employer, not later than the employee's normal payday, the amount of the premium owed by the employee.

#### 31.4 DENTAL INSURANCE

The Employer will make available to all eligible employees and their dependents (as defined by the Employer's insurance carrier) the same dental insurance plans as are available to non-union employees. The premium sharing for 2023 shall be as listed below.

Coverage Level	Standard Plan Total Premiums (2023 Monthly)	Employee Contribution (2023 Monthly)	Employer Contribution (2023 Monthly)	Employee Percentage	Employer Percentage
Employee	\$42.50	\$21.25	\$21.25	50%	50%
Employee + Spouse	\$81.51	\$65.21	\$16.30	80%	20%
Employee + Child(ren)	\$96.90	\$77.52	\$19.38	80%	20%
Employee + Family	\$137.59	\$110.07	\$27.52	80%	20%

Coverage Level	Enhanced Plan Total Premiums (2023 Monthly)	Employee Contribution (2023 Monthly)	Employer Contribution (2023 Monthly)	Employee Percentage	Employer Percentage
Employee	\$48.46	\$24.23	\$24.23	50%	50%
Employee + Spouse	\$92.89	\$74.31	\$18.58	80%	20%
Employee + Child(ren)	\$119.93	\$95.94	\$23.99	80%	20%
Employee + Family	\$164.40	\$131.52	\$32.88	80%	20%

The premium sharing for 2024 shall be as listed below.

Coverage Level	Standard Plan Total Premiums (2024 Monthly)	Employee Contribution (2024 Monthly)	Employer Contribution (2024 Monthly)	Employee Percentage	Employer Percentage
Employee	\$42.50	\$21.25	\$21.25	50%	50%
Employee + Spouse	\$81.51	\$65.21	\$16.30	80%	20%
Employee + Child(ren)	\$96.90	\$77.52	\$19.38	80%	20%
Employee + Family	\$137.59	\$110.07	\$27.52	80%	20%

Coverage Level	Enhanced Plan Total Premiums (2024 Monthly)	Employee Contribution (2024 Monthly)	Employer Contribution (2024 Monthly)	Employee Percentage	Employer Percentage
Employee	\$48.46	\$24.23	\$24.23	50%	50%
Employee + Spouse	\$92.89	\$74.31	\$18.58	80%	20%
Employee + Child(ren)	\$119.93	\$95.94	\$23.99	80%	20%
Employee + Family	\$164.40	\$131.52	\$32.88	80%	20%

In the event dental premiums increase, the parties shall maintain the same percentage split as listed above.

#### 31.5 PREMIUMS OWED

The employee will pay, via payroll deductions, authorized by the employee in writing, the balance of the premiums for his/her single and dependent coverage. If, for any pay period, there are insufficient wages due and payable to the employee to cover the premium to be withheld, the employee must submit directly to the Employer, not later than the employee's normal payday, the amount of the premium owed by the employee.

## 31.6 VISION INSURANCE

The Employer will make available a vision insurance benefit under the terms and conditions described in the applicable insurance contract and/or plan document.

#### 31.7 PLAN CHANGES

During the term of this Agreement the level of benefits will, in the event that the Employer changes a carrier or carriers, remain essentially the same in the aggregate.

## ARTICLE 32 – EMPLOYEE ASSISTANCE PROGRAM

The Employer will make available to all employees an Employee Assistance Program at such time and on the same terms as it is offered to Employer's other employees.

# **ARTICLE 33 – RETIREMENT SAVINGS**

## 33.1 401(k)

Employees shall be eligible to participate in the Company 401(k) Plan in accordance with the Plan Provisions. If the Employer contemplates a change in the Plan Provisions during the life of the Agreement, it shall notify the Union and bargain upon request.

## ARTICLE 34 – EMPLOYEE HEALTH & SAFETY

## 34.1 APPLICABLE LAWS AND COOPERATION

The Employer and the Union recognize the applicability of federal and state laws regarding health and safety in the workplace. The Employer shall continue to make reasonable efforts to protect the safety and health of its employees during the hours of their employment. Both parties pledge themselves by this Agreement to cooperate fully with each other in the furtherance of the safety and health program.

## 34.2 CLOTHING/EQUIPMENT/DEVICES

The Employer shall provide gloves, masks, gowns, and any other clothing, equipment, or devices required by law for the health and safety of its employees.

## 34.3 TRAINING IN UNIVERSAL PRECAUTIONS

Employees will be trained in Universal Precautions and Infection Control and advised of the Employer's policy on "Exposure to Blood and Body Fluids."

## 34.4 HEPATITIS B VACCINE WHEN APPROPRIATE

The parties agree to work jointly to prevent possible workplace exposure to Hepatitis B. Upon request by an employee who has suffered a possible occupational exposure to Hepatitis B, the Employer will provide screening, and if positive, will provide the employee, where appropriate, with a series of Hepatitis B vaccine, so long as the employee is still employed.

## 34.5 EMPLOYER'S PROVIDING OF PPD/CHEST X-RAY

At the time of hire, the Employer will provide employees with a PPD test. In the event of a positive result, the newly hired employee must provide a chest x-ray to establish that there is no active presence of the disease. If the x-ray is positive, the employee will be placed on an immediate medical leave of absence until such time as the employee provides appropriate proof of treatment.

The Employer will provide annual PPD tests to all active employees, or upon request, to any employee who may have suffered an occupational exposure. If an x-ray is positive, the affected employee will be placed on an immediate medical leave of absence until such time as the employee provides appropriate proof of treatment. In the event of a negative x-ray, an affected employee will thereafter be annually reviewed by the Employer for symptoms of TB. If the employee exhibits symptoms of TB in such a review, the employee will be placed on an immediate medical leave of absence until such time as the employee provides appropriate proof of treatment.

The parties agree to work jointly to prevent possible workplace exposure. In the event of a known workplace exposure, the Employer will work in conjunction with the local health agency to ensure appropriate medical assessment and care.

## 34.6 EMPLOYEE COMPLIANCE WITH SAFETY AND HEALTH RULES/REGULATIONS

Employees shall comply with the Employer's safety and health rules and regulations and infection control guidelines, and use Employer-supplied safety and health clothing, equipment and devices. If able to do so immediately, employees shall report any on-the-job injuries and inform their supervisor or the Health Services Administrator of any unsafe working conditions or events. If an immediate report of the foregoing is not possible, employees will report such injuries, unsafe working conditions or events as soon as possible. Failure to comply with the Employer's safety and health rules and regulations may subject an employee to discipline and/or discharge, as provided by this Agreement.

## ARTICLE 35 – EDUCATIONAL BENEFITS

35.1 The Employer agrees to offer tuition reimbursement according to its current "Tuition Assistance Program."

## 35.2 EDUCATIONAL STIPEND

The Employer shall maintain an education stipend fund to reimburse employees for attendance at conferences, seminars or conventions related to skill enhancement for the employees' current job and maintenance of license.

- (a) Reimbursement for Employees. Each full time and part-time employee shall be eligible for reimbursement for 100% of registration fees up to \$800 per calendar year upon pre-approval by the Health Services Administrator.
- (b) <u>Reimbursement for Nurse Practitioners and Physician's Assistants</u>. Nurse Practitioners and Physician's Assistants will be eligible for reimbursement up to \$1,500 or the amount allotted the Physicians, whichever is greater.
- (c) <u>Hardship</u>. In hardship cases, the Health Services Administrator may approve an advance of 100% of the registration fee up to the \$800 cap.

## 35.3 CONTINUING EDUCATION LEAVE

- (a) <u>Home Study</u>. The Employer will pay 100% of the cost of a pre-approved home study course upon proof of completion of the course. Employees shall submit a certificate of completion to Human Resources.
- (b) <u>Sherriff's Training Programs</u>. In addition, it shall be the responsibility of all employees to attend the eight (8) hour Sherriff's training programs given per year.
- (c) "<u>All Staff" Meetings</u>. Also, it is the responsibility of all employees to attend all "All Staff" meetings, which shall include at least twelve (12) hours of continuing education classes for nursing staff. In the event an employee is not on duty when the "All Staff" meeting is conducted, the employee must review the minutes of the meeting, and complete and return the CEU package to Human Resources.

- (d) Educational Leave Hours Provided. The Employer will provide Physician's Assistants, and Nurse Practitioners forty (40) hours, per the Employer's practice, for paid education leave per year and the Employer will provide, Registered Nurses, Licensed Vocational Nurses, and Dental Assistants twenty-four (24) hours of paid educational leave per year to attend conferences, seminars or conventions related to skill enhancement for the employee's current job and maintenance of license or certificate required by law, after reasonable pre-approval by the Health Services Administrator or designee and proof of satisfactory completion of the course. Paid education leave may be used for home study courses with pre-approval from the Employer.
- (e) Working Without a Valid License. Any member of the nursing staff discovered to be working without a valid license, in addition to possible other discipline, will be suspended without pay until they receive a license. An indication on the appropriate government website that the employee does not have the required valid license shall be conclusive of the employee's licensure status, unless the employee provides actual proof that she/he does possess the required license. If the employee fails to provide a valid license within seven (7) calendar days of the commencement of the suspension, he or she may be terminated by the Employer.

## 35.4 CPR CERTIFICATION

The Employer on a recurring basis will provide for CPR training for all applicable employees with no cost to those employees. Otherwise, it is the responsibility of the employee to obtain and maintain a current CPR certification as a condition of employment. Verification of CPR certification must be provided to the Employer. Any employees discovered to be working while their CPR Certificate is not valid will be suspended without pay until they receive a valid CPR Certificate. If the employee fails to provide a CPR certificate within seven (7) calendar days of the commencement of the suspension, he or she may be terminated by the Employer.

## ARTICLE 36 – MALPRACTICE INSURANCE

## 36.1 MALPRACTICE INSURANCE

The Employer shall provide liability (malpractice) insurance.

## 36.2 PROOF OF MALPRACTICE INSURANCE

The Employer shall provide proof of liability (malpractice) coverage to the Union.

#### ARTICLE 37 – LIFE AND AD&D INSURANCE

The Employer shall provide life insurance and accidental death and dismemberment insurance coverage under the same terms as the other similarly situated employees of the Employer.

## **ARTICLE 38 – WHISTLEBLOWER PROTECTION**

#### 38.1 REPORTING WRONGDOING

Any employee who believes he or she has information that may indicate wrongdoing by a manager or supervisor may report such information in writing to the appropriate level of management and the appropriate Union representative before contacting a regulatory agency.

## 38.2 NO DISCIPLINE

No employee shall be disciplined or otherwise intimidated, restrained, coerced or discriminated against for having provided such information.

#### 38.3 INVESTIGATION

The Employer will conduct a thorough investigation of all allegations of wrongdoing by management, supervisors or other employees. If proven after a thorough investigation that an employee willfully reported false allegations, the reporting employee will be subject to immediate discharge.

## ARTICLE 39 – SEPARABILITY

## 39.1 ALL AGREEMENTS SUBJECT TO APPLICABLE LAWS

It is understood and agreed that all agreements herein are subject to all applicable laws now or hereafter in effect; and to the lawful regulations, rulings, and orders of regulatory commissions or agencies having jurisdiction. If any provision of this Agreement is in contravention of the laws or regulations of the United States of America or of the State of California or of any municipality or the Employer's contract with the County of Alameda, such provision shall be superseded by the appropriate provision of such law, regulation or contract, so long as the same is enforced and in effect unless upon demand of either of the parties negotiations are requested to replace the provision; but all other provisions of this Agreement shall continue in full force and effect.

## ARTICLE 40 – SCOPE OF AGREEMENT

#### 40.1 COMPLETE AGREEMENT

The Employer and the Union acknowledge that this Agreement shall constitute the complete agreement between the parties.

## 40.2 HEADINGS

Headings contained in the various Sections of the Articles of this Agreement are for purposes of reference and organization only, and are not intended to alter or affect the substantive terms of this Agreement.

## 40.3 OBLIGATIONS REGARDING BARGAINING

The Employer and the Union acknowledge that during the negotiations which resulted in this Agreement, each had the unlimited right and opportunity to make demands and proposals with respect to any subject matter not removed by law from the area of collective bargaining and that the understandings and agreements arrived at by the parties after the exercise of that right and opportunity are set forth in this Agreement. Therefore, the Employer and the Union, for the term of this Agreement, each voluntarily and unqualifiedly waive that right, and each agrees that the other shall not be obligated to bargain collectively with respect to any subject or matter which was the subject of negotiations.

#### ARTICLE 41 – IMPROVED PATIENT CARE

#### 41.1 QUALITY CARE COMMITTEE

If an issue arises either the Union or the Employer may convene a meeting of the Quality Care Committee at a mutually agreeable time and place. It shall consist of two (2) bargaining unit employees selected by the Union and two (2) representatives of Management. This committee shall schedule meetings by mutual consent at Santa Rita Jail of three (3) hours duration, not more often than once per quarter. The Employer will provide paid release time to attend said meetings when such meetings occur during the employees' work time.

In addition, the parties will hold monthly labor/management meetings to discuss issues of mutual concern.

## ARTICLE 42 – LABOR MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

The LMC will be comprised of up to three members each from the Union and the Employer. Should either party wish to bring additional representatives as guests or to address a specific topic, they will notify the other party of the additional representatives as part of the exchange of proposed agendas.

The LMC shall meet quarterly at the request of either party at a mutually agreed time and location. The parties may schedule additional meetings by mutual agreement.

The parties are encouraged to adopt a standing agenda and to exchange specific agenda items in advance of any LMC meeting such that the other party has adequate time to prepare.

Union representatives shall suffer no loss of pay for attending the LMC. Up to two additional representatives per meeting shall not suffer a loss of pay due to their participation in the LMC.

The Union will provide reasonable notice to the Employer of the names of Union representatives so as to minimize operational disruption.

## **ARTICLE 43 – TERM OF AGREEMENT**

The Agreement shall be effective as of November 4, 2023 and shall remain in full force and effect without change, addition, or amendment (except as provided herein) from that date through April 30, 2027, and shall be renewed from year to year thereafter subject to reopening by either party upon ninety (90) days' written notice to the other party prior to April 30, 2027, or any anniversary date thereafter.

California Forensic Medical Group,	Inc.	National Union of Healthcare Workers
DocuSigned by:	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	le Rome.
Grady J. Bazzel, MD, President		Sal Rosselli, NUHW President
2/16/2024		2/20/24
Date		Date
		Rulph & Corneyo Ralph Cornejo, NUHW Director
		Ralph Cornejo, NUHW Director
		2/20/24
		Date
		NUHW BARGAINING COMMITTEE Genica Wiliams

Debra Burgess Lynee George Monica Sioson

## APPENDIX A – PAY FOR BARGAINING COMMITTEE

The Employer will release up to four (4) members of the Union bargaining team from work and pay them at their regular rates of pay for time actually spent away from scheduled work shifts in the negotiations. It is expected that the bargaining team members will be the same individuals and that the Union will provide the Employer notice as soon as possible of who those employee bargaining team members will be.

When negotiations are scheduled on a day when one (1) or more of the individuals is not scheduled to work, those individuals will not be eligible for pay. This provision is only intended to replace income the negotiators will lose as a result of their being required to miss work to attend negotiations. Where the absence of one (1) or more designated individual employee negotiators from their shifts for any session would make it impractical or unreasonably costly for the Employer to staff a shift, the Employer may decline to release one (1) or more of such individuals. The parties, however, will work together in an attempt to ensure that the designated employee negotiators can be released, and will attempt to schedule negotiations far enough in advance to allow for such release and any required rescheduling to accommodate their release.

Time spent in negotiations, whether paid or unpaid, will not count as time worked for purposes of overtime. If negotiations conclude on a given day before the end of an employee's shift, the employee should be available to return to work duties, at the election of the Employer, to provide whatever assistance the Employer and the employee's colleagues might require for the balance of the shift. Time spent actually working after the end of negotiations on a given day would count as time worked for purposes of overtime.

The Employer retains the right to discontinue paid release time at its discretion, upon notice to the Union. If the Employer elects to discontinue granting paid release time for bargaining, the parties will modify the scheduling of bargaining to accommodate such change.

# APPENDIX B – INITIAL HIRING AND PROBATIONARY PERIOD LETTER OF AGREEMENT

## 1. <u>Limitation of Scope</u>

This letter of agreement (LOA) only addresses the question of initial hiring as part of California Forensic Medical Group's (CFMG) assumption of responsibility for Santa Rita and Glenn Dyer jails (hereafter "jails"). Hiring and probation beginning after the initial hiring process shall be handled in accordance with the Collective Bargaining Agreement (CBA).

# 2. Group One: Those Extended an Initial Offer of Employment

Those employees who have been extended offers of employment from CFMG shall have the following:

- (a) Full-time or part-time employees in Group One will have a probationary period of sixty (60) days, and PRN employees will have a probationary period of ninety (90) days;
- (b) In the event a full-time or part-time employee (but not a PRN employee) with three or more completed years of experience working in the jails is terminated during the probationary period, CFMG agrees to pay them one week of severance for each completed year of service, up to a maximum of ten (10) weeks, at their regular rate of pay. This provision shall not apply to any employee who loses their security clearance or license during the probationary period.

#### 3. Group Two: Those Not Extended an Initial Offer of Employment

For those employees who were initially sent rejection letters, the Employer agrees to extend an offer of employment. The offer the Employer extends may be PRN or benefited at the Employer's discretion.

The employees in this group shall have the following:

- (a) A probationary period as defined in the CBA (90-days for full-time and part-time employees, and 120-days for PRN employees); and
- (b) No severance in the case they do not pass probation; and
- (c) No right to apply for vacancies during their probationary period; however, the Employer may allow them to apply at the Employer's discretion.

## 4. Group Three

Those LVNs who were employed by the former employer in calendar year 2016 and applied for a position with the Employer prior to September 1, 2016, but for whom no position was available, shall be treated as laid off for the purpose of filling of vacancies through the end of calendar year 2016. The provision of Subsection 12.1(a), Definition of Seniority for Continuing Members of the Union, shall apply to this group until December 31, 2016.

# 5. Filling of Vacancies

In the event a benefitted position opens up prior to October 1, 2016, the Employer agrees to give hiring preference on the basis of seniority to those employees who held benefitted positions with the prior employer but were offered PRN employment by the current Employer. On October 1, 2016, and going forward, vacancies shall be filled according to the Collective Bargaining Agreement. This provision shall not apply to members of Group Two, either before October 1<sup>st</sup> or during their probationary period.

This letter will go into effect immediately upon being signed by both parties.

## SIDE LETTER – WEEKEND WORK BY MLPS

#### SIDE LETTER OF AGREEMENT between the National Union of Healthcare Workers and Wellpath / CFMG regarding weekend work done by Mid Level Providers

- (1) At least forty-five (45) days prior to the beginning of a given set of two (2) pay periods, management will solicit preferences for voluntary weekend shifts from the full-time and part-time Nurse Practitioners and Physician Assistant (NPs/PAs) during that set of two (2) pay periods. NPs/PAs will have fifteen (15) days to provide preferences for weekend shifts. Additionally, NPs/PAs will communicate to management which particular weekend shifts in that given set of two (2) pay periods for which they are unavailable. Where multiple NPs/PAs volunteer for the same shift, seniority prevails.
- (2) Each full-time and part-time NP/PA will volunteer for any number of weekend shifts in that set of two (2) pay periods, including zero (0).
- (3) Once all full-time and part-time NP/PAs have volunteered for their shifts, then management may mandate weekend shifts for particular NPs/PAs, as necessary, such that each full-time and part-time NP/PA may be mandated to work shifts bringing the total number of weekend shifts he/she is working to at most two (2), though any NP/PA is free to volunteer for more than two (2) weekend shifts. When mandating occurs and multiple NPs/PAs are involved, reverse seniority prevails.

In a given set of two (2) pay periods, if a NP/PA volunteers for two (2) or more weekend shifts, then he/she may not be mandated to work any additional weekend shifts. If a NP/PA volunteers for one (1) weekend shift, then he/she may be mandated to work one (1) additional shift, if necessary. If a NP/PA volunteers for zero (0) shifts, then he/she may be mandated to work up to two (2) additional shifts, if necessary.

In a given set of two (2) pay periods, if the total number of weekend shifts volunteered for is eight (8), then no mandating occurs at all. And if the total number of weekend shifts volunteered for is seven (7), then one (1) NP/PA may be mandated to work one (1) weekend shift. If the total number of shifts volunteered for is six (6), then two (2) weekend shifts may be assigned mandatorily. If the total number of shifts volunteered for is five (5), then three (3) weekend shifts may be assigned mandatorily. And so on and so forth.

(4) If a NP/PA is mandated to work a weekend shift, management shall not mandate that NP/PA to work on a day that they indicated they are pot unavailable for, except for cases in which multiple NPs/PAs have indicated their unavailability for the same day and the NP/PA in question has lower seniority than those others.

Atty

(5) Any remaining shifts may be filled by the use of per diems.

- (6) The final schedule shall be made available to all employees by management no less than three (3) weeks prior to the beginning of the schedule. Once posted, the schedule shall not be changed except by mutual agreement between the employer and the employee(s) whose schedule(s) is/are being changed.
- (7) Whenever a NP/PA does work a weekend shift, then she/he/they will, have their choice of day off on a weekday that week, except for cases in which multiple NPs/PAs have indicated their unavailability for the same day and the NP/PA in question has lower seniority than those others.
- (8) NPs/PAs, when working any hours between 11:00pm on Friday and 7:00am on Monday will be paid a differential of \$5.00 per hour in addition to the current weekend shift differential for a total of \$6.25 per hour.
- (9) All NPs/PAs shall have their base rates of pay increased by \$2.25 per hour, effective at the beginning of the next full pay period after the signing of this memorandum. All values in the "Physician Assistant / Nurse Practitioner" lines of the wage scales in Section 8.11 of the 2019-2023 Collective Bargaining Agreement shall be increased by \$2.25.
- (10) The parties agree to add this document to the current Collective Bargaining Agreement as a side letter.

Signed on behalf of Wellpath / CFMG:

Heather Hole
PRINT NAME
SIGNATURE

DATE

Signed on behalf of NUHW:

Abid Yahya
PRINT NAME
SIGNATURE

DATE

# THE SEVEN POINTS OF JUST CAUSE FOR DISCIPLINE

If the answer to these seven questions is **YES**, Management has a just cause for discipline:

- 1. **Fair Notice** Did Management make the worker aware of the rule or policy which they are being accused of violating?
- 2. **Prior Enforcement** Has Management recently enforced the rule or policy or penalized other workers for violating the same rule or policy?
- 3. **Due Process** Did Management conduct an interview or hearing before issuing the discipline, take action promptly and list charges precisely?
- 4. **Substantial Proof** Was Management's decision to accord discipline based on credible and substantial evidence?
- 5. **Equal Treatment** Is the punishment Management is proposing consistent with the punishment other workers received for the same or substantially similar offense?
- 6. **Progressive Discipline** During the disciplinary process, did Management issue at least one level of discipline that allowed the employee an opportunity to improve?
- 7. **Mitigating and Extenuating Circumstances** Was the discipline proportional to the gravity of the offense, taking into account any mitigating, extenuating or aggravating circumstances?

This page is for informational purposes only and is not part of the collective bargaining agreement.